

Federal Highway Administration Publication No. FHWA-RD-88-001 December 1988

More Effective Cold, Wet-Weather Patching Materials for Asphalt Pavements

Research, Development, and Technology Turner-Fairbank Highway Research Center 6300 Georgetown Pike McLean, Virginia 22101-2296

FOREWORD

This report presents the findings of a research study to evaluate improved cold-mix patching materials for asphalt pavements. Five binders were selected for evaluation in mixtures after initial laboratory testing. Both standard and new test methods were used to evaluate the mixtures in the laboratory prior to field trials. Over 400 patches were placed during the field installations over a winter season, and their performance was monitored for the next 13 months.

This report will be of interest to engineers involved in designing or using cold-mix patching mixtures for the repair of asphalt pavement during cold, wet weather.

Sufficient copies of this report are being distributed by FHWA memorandum to provide two copies to each FHWA Region and Division and two copies to each State highway agency. Direct distribution is being made to the division offices. Additional copies for the public are available from the National Technical Information Service (NTIS), U.S. Department of Commerce, 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, Virginia 22161.

asko pomos

Thomas J. Pasko', Jr., P.E. Director, Office of Engineering and Highway Operations Research and Development

NOTICE

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation in the interest of information exchange. The United States Government assumes no liability for its contents or use thereof. The contents of this report reflect the views of the contractor, who is responsible for the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official policy of the Department of Transportation. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

The United States Government does not endorse products or manufacturers. Trade or manufacturers' names appear herein only because they are considered essential to the object of this document.

			TECHNICAL REPORT S	TANDARD TITLE PAG
1. Report No.	2. Government Acces	sion No.	3. Recipient's Catalog	No.
FHWA-RD-88-001				
4. Title and Subtitle		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	5. Report Date	······································
MORE EFFECTIVE COLD. WET-WE	ATHER PATCH	ING MATERIALS	December 1988	
FOR ASPHALT PAVEMENTS			6. Performing Organizat	tion Code
7. Author's) David A. Anderson, H. Rando Siddiqui, and Dennis D. Kri	lph Thomas, 2 vohlavek	Zahurrudin	8. Performing Organizat PTI 8613	ion Report No.
9. Performing Organization Name and Address	······································		10. Work Unit No.	12
Pennsylvania Transportation	Institute		11. Contract or Grant N DTFH61-84-C-000	•.)61
Iniversity Park PA 16802	ersity		DIFN01-04-0-000	501
Deliversity fair, in 10002			13. Type of Report and	Period Covered
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address Federal Highway Administrat	ion		Final Report	at 1987
U.S. Department of Transpor	tation		Aug. 1904 - 5el	JL. 1907
Washington, DC 20590			14. Sponsoring Agency	Code
15. Supplementary Notes Contracting Officer's Techn	ical Represen	ntative: Steph	en W. Forster,	HNR-20
to repair. One reason for that the commonly used rep The overall objective of t cold-mix, stockpiled patch predominant failure mechan established. Binder perfor study. More than 40 exper and five of these binders current mix designs for co inadequate, and, therefore the study. Field trials w were monitored over a 1 - medium-set emulsion binder control mixtures. These b procedures described herei by interested highway agen	the short 1: air mixtures his project wing mixtures isms and cond rmance was ic imental binde were chosen f ld-mix, stock , a new mix cond rere conducted year period. s performed conducted inders, used n, are therefore	ife of repairs cannot withsta vas to develop . To satisfy to comitant perfor dentified as the ters were evaluated for field trial topiled patching design procedure i, in which 410 Mixtures empl demonstrably be in mixtures de fore recommende	done during the and the cold, we and test improv- this objective, mance requirement ted in the label s. It was found materials were to was adopted to repairs were no oying certain la tter than compa- tsigned with the ed for trial inst	e expensive e winter is et weather. ved the ents were ng area of oratory, nd that e for use in made, and high-float anion e stallation
			•	
17. Key Words		18. Distribution Statem	ent	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
potholes, binders, emulsion	S	No restriction available to National Tech Springfield,	ns. This docum the public thro nical Informati Virginia, 22161	ment is Dugh the Ion Service,
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Class	if. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified	Unclassifie	ed a start	149	

H.

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-69)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Cha	apter	Page
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	LITERATURE REVIEW	5
	NEW JERSEY STUDIES	5
	INDIANA STUDY	7
	NEW YORK STUDY	7
	COLORADO STUDY	9
	CONNECTICUT STUDY	10
	DELAWARE STUDY	13
	PENNSYLVANIA STUDIES	14
	OTHER STUDIES	15
	MIX DESIGN	16
	SUMMARY	20
3.	FAILURE MECHANISMS AND PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS	21
	MECHANISMS IN THE STOCKPILE	21
	MECHANISMS DURING TRANSPORT AND PLACEMENT	24
	INSERVICE MECHANISMS	25
	Pushing and Shoving	25
	Dishing	26
	Raveling	26
	Freeze-Thaw Resistance	27
	Skid Resistance	27
	SUMMARY	28
	PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS	28
4.	BINDER SELECTION	34
	CONVENTIONAL MATERIALS	34
	MODIFIED BINDERS	36
	Plastics	36
	Elastomers	37
	SELECTION OF CANDIDATE BINDERS	41
	TEST PROCEDURES	43
	PRELIMINARY TEST RESULTS	45
	COST OF MIXES MADE WITH MODIFIED BINDERS	52
5.	DETAILED LABORATORY EVALUATION OF CANDIDATE MIXES	54
		F /
	MIXTURE-DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS	54
	Materials	50
	Preparation of Mix	56
	RESULTS OF MIX-DESIGN TESTING	5/
	workability	57
	Drainage	58
	Water Resistance	61
	Fiber-Modified Mixes	61
	Selection of Design Mixtures	66
	Tests on Traprock and Gravel Mixes	67

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

H.

Cha	ipter	Page
	ADDITIONAL TESTING ON MIXES SELECTED FOR FIELD TRIALS	67
	The PTI Workability Test	72
*	The Freeze-Thaw Test	75
	Test for Stability Under Traffic	76
	Test for Self-Testing	70
	lest 101 Self-lacking	78
6.	PRODUCTION AND PLACEMENT OF MIXES FOR FIELD TRIALS	84
	PRODUCTION AND STORAGE	84
	FIELD PLACEMENT	87
	Site Selection	87
	Repair Procedure	89
	Monitoring of Repairs	93
	Summary of Renairs	03
		//
7	ANALYSTS OF FIFID DESILITS	07
1.	ANALISIS OF FIELD RESULIS	97
	EVALUATION OF MIXTURE CHARACTERISTICS	97
	Drainage Resistance	97
	Workability	102
	Stripping Resistance	102
	Self-Tacking	103
	EVALUATION OF DENSITY	103
	Hole Dimensions	105
	Pavement Type	100
	Bridging of Compaction Device and Adequate Filling	110
	Min Temperature	111
		111
		111
	MONITORING OF INSERVICE PERFORMANCE	113
	RESULTS OF FIELD SURVEY	114
8.	COST EVALUATION OF REPAIR METHODS AND MATERIALS	123
	IDENTIFICATION OF REPAIR METHODS	123
	METHODOLOGY FOR EVALUATING REPAIR METHODS	124
	EXAMPLE COST EVALUATION OF REPAIR ALTERNATIVES	125
	COMPARISON OF MATERIALS BASED ON ANNIALIZED COST	129
		120
	JOHNARI	134
9.	FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS	133
	FAILURE MECHANISMS AND PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS	133
	BINDER SELECTION	135
	FIELD TRIALS	127
	CONCLUSTONS	130
		172
	RECOTTENDRITONS	140
REF	ERENCES	141

LIST OF FIGURES

I

Figure		Page
1.	Flowchart for selection and testing of patching mixtures	4
2.	Pocket penetrometer used for workability test	73
3.	Rating from the PennDOT Workability Test versus penetration number	73
4.	Stability test mold and loading foot	79
5.	Mounting of specimen in mold for self-tacking test	81
6,	Self-tacking apparatus attached to MTS machine	81
7.	Cutting operation for standard procedure	90
8.	Cleaning operation for standard procedure	90
9.	Compaction operation for standard procedure	91
10.	Nonstandard repair procedure	92
11.	Watering the pothole before placing the mix	94
12.	Mix temperature versus air temperature	100
13.	Frequency histogram for hole depth	106
14.	Density versus depth of repairs	108
15.	Mix density versus mix temperature	112
16.	Performance of mixes, standard procedure, evaluation no. 3	119
17.	Performance of mixes, standard procedure, evaluation no 4	120
18.	Performance of mixtures, nonstandard procedure, evaluation no. 4	122
19.	Variation in equivalent uniform annual cost with repair longevity	126
20.	Equivalent uniform annual cost (dollars per repair) for the standard method when repairs can be productionized	129
21.	Equivalent uniform annual cost (dollars per repair) for the the standard method when repairs cannot be productionized	129
22.	Equivalent uniform annual cost (dollars per repair) for the nonstandard method	130

LIST OF TABLES

11

Table		Page
1.	Gradation of cold mix used in New York study	8
2.	Gradation of mixtures used in Connecticut study	11
3.	Distribution of failures in bituminous patches in the Connecticut study	12
4.	Failures, handling problems, and related mix properties common to bituminous patching mixtures	17
5.	Aggregate gradation specified for PennDOT 485 cold mix	18
6.	Binder materials specified for PennDOT 485 cold mix	18
7.	Mixing temperatures specified for PennDOT 485 cold mix	19
8.	Problems and failure mechanisms in cold-mix patching materials	22
9.	Design considerations for cold mixes	29
10.	Performance requirements of patching materials	30
11.	Preliminary list of candidate binders	42
12.	Aggregates used in laboratory mixes	44
13.	Aggregate gradation used in experimental mixes	44
14.	Initial design mixtures, 6.4 percent emulsion, limestone aggregate	46
15.	Initial design mixtures, 6.1 percent cutback, limestone aggregate	47
16.	Initial design mixtures, 6.4 percent emulsion, glacial sand and gravel aggregate	50
17.	Initial design mixtures, 6.4 percent emulsion, traprock aggregate	51
18.	Estimated cost of mixes made with modified binders	53
19.	Modified list of candidate binders used in detailed laboratory study	55
20.	Results of PennDOT workability test for limestone mixes	59
21.	Results of drainage test for limestone mixes	60

v

LIST OF TABLES (continued)

Table		Page
22.	Results of water-resistance test for limestone mixes	62
23.	Results of PennDOT workability test for fiber-reinforced mixes	63
24.	Results of drainage test for fiber-reinforced mixes	64
25.	Results of water-resistance test for fiber-reinforced mixes	65
26.	Binders selected for field evaluation	68
27.	Test data on binders for field mix	69
28.	Laboratory test results for traprock mixtures	70
29.	Laboratory test results for gravel mixtures	71
30.	Results of PTI workability test for candidate mixes	74
31.	Results of freeze-thaw test	77
32.	Results of repeated-loading penetration test	80
33.	Results of self-tacking test	83
34.	Mix data, November 14, 1985	85
35.	Laboratory test results for plant mixes	88
36.	Summary of potholes patched with each mix type	96
37.	Number of potholes patched under various weather conditions .	98
38.	Number of potholes patched at various ambient temperatures	98
39.	Number of potholes patched at various mix temperatures	99
40.	Physical properties of repairs	99
41.	Rating of mixture characteristics reported from the field	101
42.	Summary of densities measured in the field for different mixes	104
43.	Distribution of hole depths	107
44.	Inservice rating criteria	115
45.	Comparison of mix performance using the standard repair procedure	116

vi

LIST OF TABLES (continued)

Ħ

Table		Page
46.	Comparison of mix performance using the nonstandard repair procedure	117
47.	Variation in equivalent uniform annual cost as a function of repair longevity for a specific alternative	127



1. INTRODUCTION

To the road user, potholes are one of the most visible and annoying forms of asphalt pavement deterioration. Potholes have always been a problem for highway-maintenance organizations because their treatment is very costly and time-consuming. The problem can reach enormous proportions during cold, wet periods of the year, when pothole repair is made more difficult because of adverse weather and the large number of potholes that seem to appear at one time.

Pothole repairs conducted by most highway agencies during the cold, wet winter and spring months are typically short-lived. Potholes that must be filled repeatedly are expensive to repair. A value engineering study conducted in 1975 indicates that a patch repaired with a "dump and run" procedure has a serviceable life of 1 month and, on an annualized basis, a direct agency cost of \$308 per ton (\$340 per Mg). [1] According to that study, a properly compacted repair made by cutting out the deteriorated pavement will last more than 12 months and has an annualized cost per ton of \$65 per ton (\$72 per Mg). A more recent finding shows that the uniform annual cost of repairing a pothole correctly, including manpower, material, and equipment, is about \$100 per ton (\$110 per Mg), whereas the "dump and run" procedure costs about \$310 per ton (\$340 per Mg).^[2] These figures have been normalized to represent the cost on the basis of the unit weight of material placed in the pothole at the initial time of repair. The cost can also be translated to a cost per repair. For example, assuming an average pothole volume of 3 ft³ (2.3 m^3) and a compacted unit weight of 133 lb/ft³ (2.1 Mg/m³), a ton of mix will repair five average potholes. On this basis, the cost of repairing a pothole with the "do it right" procedure would be approximately \$20 per repair and the "dump and run" procedure would cost \$62 per repair.

Repair longevity is the secret to a cost-effective procedure since repeated repairs cost almost as much as the initial repair. Material costs were found to constitute less than 10 percent of the total cost of repair when the correct procedure was used. Thus, a more expensive material can be justified if it provides increased repair life.

One reason for the short life of a repair made during the cold, wet period of the year is that commonly available cold-mix patching materials cannot withstand the cold, wet weather. The objective of this study was to develop and test an improved cold-mix, stockpiled patching material that could be used for the repair of asphalt pavements during cold, wet weather conditions. The material had to be suitable for winter stockpiling, not require specialized equipment or handling, and be cost-effective with a minimum price differential compared with conventionally engineered cold-mix materials.

This report describes the laboratory testing, production, placement, and field evaluation of the more promising laboratory mixes. The field evaluations included an assessment of parameters that could be readily determined at the time of placement, such as workability, degree of binder coating on the aggregate, and nuclear density measurements. Longevity and long-term performance were documented with four inspections of the repairs conducted after approximately 40, 70, 200, and 400 days of service.

The research plan was completed by accomplishing five major tasks:

1. Definition of Performance Requirements. The first task of the research team was to define early failure mechanisms and to develop performance requirements for pothole repairs. In determining failure mechanisms, the researchers relied on several sources. First, an extensive literature search was conducted in which particular emphasis was given to those agencies that had conducted recent evaluations of nonconventional materials. The failure mechanisms of these materials were particularly relevant to this study. The researchers also used their extensive experience gained from an earlier 2-year field study of more than 1,000 potholes. Mechanisms occurring in the stockpile, during transport and placement, and while in service were documented.

Once the failure mechanisms were established, the research team developed performance requirements. In developing these requirements, it was realized that some of them were contradictory and that there are interactions and

trade-offs among binder properties, aggregate gradation, equipment requirements, and repair philosophy.

2. Laboratory Development of Patching Materials. A list of candidate binders was developed on the basis of a review of the properties of commercially available binders, and limited laboratory studies. A more comprehensive series of laboratory studies was then used to select the binders for the field studies. Conventional mix-design procedures were applied, and workability, freeze-thaw resistance, stripping resistance, and several other tests were performed. After these tests were completed, five candidate materials remained.

3. <u>Production and Stockpiling</u>. Approximately 7 to 10 tons (6.4 to 9.1 Mg) of material were produced using each of the five binders. In addition, 45 tons (40.8 Mg) of a control mix (PennDOT 485) were produced. The materials were produced at a local facility and transported to a stockpile area, where they remained until the following spring.

4. <u>Placement of Materials</u>. The objective of this task was to conduct a controlled experiment in which the materials were placed and compacted using standard repair methods. A smaller number of repairs were made using the dump and run procedure. Certain parameters related to the repair procedure were controlled to reduce the number of variables that might affect the results, but actual field conditions were not controlled. Numerous attributes and parameters characterizing each repair were documented. Nuclear density measurements were made for most of the repairs made with the standard repair procedure. More than 400 repairs were included in the study.

5. <u>Field Evaluation</u>. The purpose of the field evaluation was to evaluate the long-term performance of each repair. A rating scheme was developed to document the condition of the repair relative to dishing, raveling, bleeding, and shoving. Statistical analysis was then applied to compare each mix with the control mix.

The flowchart shown in figure 1 depicts the sequence for the selection and testing of the patching mixtures developed in the study.





- Failure Mechanisms
- Performance Requirements



- Initial Screening
- Preliminary Testing
- List of Candidate Binders





- Detailed Laboratory Testing
- List of Binders for Field Trials



Figure 1. Flowchart for selection and testing of patching mixtures.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

The major reasons that pothole repairs conducted in the winter and spring months fail prematurely are (1) the inability of stockpiled cold mix to resist wet-weather conditions, both before and after placement, and (2) the use of improper procedures by repair crews. This research focuses on the properties of the cold mix, assuming that the associated installation procedures are readily available, cost-effective, and properly executed by the repair crew.

The first objective of this project was to identify the mechanisms leading to the premature failure of pothole repairs made in cold, wet weather with cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures. Although many of these mechanisms have been discussed in the literature, the symptoms, or effects, of premature failure (pushing, dishing, etc.) are often confused with the causes or mechanisms of failure (stripping, lack of stability, etc.). In this report, a distinction is made between the symptoms of failure and the mechanisms of failure. By identifying the mechanisms of premature failure, it is then possible to establish a set of performance criteria that can be used to develop improved patching materials.

Pothole repair strategies and procedures have not received a great deal of attention in the literature. The primary emphasis in recent pothole repair research, much of which is unpublished, has been on the evaluation of proprietary cold mixes. Studies conducted in New Jersey, Indiana, New York, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, and Pennsylvania will be briefly reviewed.

NEW JERSEY STUDIES

The New Jersey Department of Transportation conducted a study to identify patching materials for rapid, durable, and economical winter patching of portland cement concrete (PCC) and asphalt cement concrete (ACC) pavements.^[3] In addition to hot-mix asphalt, three types of cold-mix patching mixtures were evaluated. The State's standard winter mix (RR) was used as the control. The methods employed to place and compact the bituminous materials ranged from simply dumping the mix into the pothole and tamping the patch with the back of a shovel to reheating the material in a portable

pugmill (McConnaughay HTD-10) and compacting it with a small vibratory roller. It was found that the standard cold-mix patching material (RR) performed better than the other patching mixtures tested. The other two cold-mix patching mixtures studied (a proprietary patching material and the asbestos-modified RR mix) proved unsuitable because of their shorter patch life and higher cost. In addition, the asbestos-modified RR mix presented potential health hazards. The use of asbestos has been banned for environmental reasons. It should be noted that the conventional hot-mix asphalt outperformed the standard RR mix, but hot mix is not readily available during the winter months.

Another investigation conducted by the New Jersey DOT utilized the McConnaughay HTD-10 mixer to produce hot-mix patching material.^[4] As a part of the study, New Jersey's standard cold-weather patching material (designation RR) was evaluated with four different patching procedures. The RR mix, which is no longer in use, consisted of a 1 to 1 blend of stone and sand and an MC-800 binder. In technique No. 1, the mix was compacted by hitting it with the back of the shovel. Hole preparation was not required. Technique No. 2 called for the use of tacking material and compaction of the mix with a hand tamper. Again, cutting was not required, but loose debris was removed with a broom. Technique No. 2 was used as the control. Technique No. 3 included cutting and cleaning the hole before filling it with RR mix preheated (at the job site) in the McConnaughay unit. In this case, the material placed in the hole was compacted with a vibratory roller. Technique No. 4 was the same as technique No. 2 except that the vibratory roller was used for compaction.

It was found that RR mix used with technique No. 2 and technique No. 4 had similar patch life, whereas patches repaired with technique No. 3 (reheated and rolled) lasted 75 percent longer. In high traffic volume locations, the average number of replacements (per winter season) for patches repaired with techniques 2, 4, and 3 was 2.9, 3.0, and 1.7, respectively. However, patching operations with technique No. 3 incurred a higher cost per ton than operations using the other three techniques.

INDIANA STUDY

In 1980, the State of Indiana completed an extensive pothole repair study.^[5] The study compared the performance of heated and unheated, stockpiled patching mixtures. A total of 324 potholes were repaired and several patching techniques were investigated. As in the case of the New Jersey investigation, the cold mix was heated and transported in hot boxes. The cold mix was also heated in a Porta-Patcher with the intent of removing

The Indiana study concluded that heating the cold mix resulted in improved durability compared with using unheated cold mix and that the best durability was obtained when cold mix was heated to 200 °F (93 °C) in a Porta-Patcher. This conclusion was verified in a study sponsored by the Federal Highway Administration, in which it was also found that heated stockpiled mix performed well.^[6] Another finding in the Indiana study was that tacking and sealing were detrimental because they contributed to patch failures such as rutting, shoving, and bleeding resulting from poor application control and excessive use of tack material.

NEW YORK STUDY

The studies discussed above dealt mainly with conventional bituminous patching materials. Other investigations have focused on new materials for patch repair. One such investigation was conducted in New York State under the FHWA HPR program.^[7] The New York study was based on the premise that the cold-mix patching material commonly used in winter is a temporary solution because it does not produce a good bond with the surrounding pavement, it tends to ravel, and it cannot withstand more than a few freeze-thaw cycles.

Repairs made with the standard New York cold mix and a proprietary product were evaluated for two winters. The New York DOT cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixture is relatively coarse graded, and the binder may be an emulsion or a cutback. Gradation requirements (percent passing) are shown in table 1. The type and content of the binder in the cold-mix used in the study were not provided in the report.

	Percent Passing			
Sieve Size	Specification	Job-Mix		
1/2 in (12.7 mm)	100	100		
1/4 in (6.4 mm)	90-100	92		
1/8 in (3.2 mm)	10-30	12		
No. 80	0-5	7.3		

Table 1. Gradation of cold mix used in New York study.

Source: Reference 7.

Five potholes were repaired with the State's cold-mix versus 44 repairs made with the proprietary mix. All of the patches made with the State specification mix failed within four weeks, but only 2 of the 44 repairs made with the proprietary mix failed. The failed repairs were at sites where vehicle tires exerted lateral forces, resulting in the shoving of the mix. The study recommended that the proprietary mix not be used in locations of frequent vehicle acceleration and deceleration. Another conclusion of this research was that the high cost of the proprietary mix may be offset by longer patch life and reduced necessity for repatching.

COLORADO STUDY

A study conducted by Swanson et al. in Colorado, between December 1979 and July 1980, focused on the field testing of a variety of materials and techniques for repairing bituminous concrete.^[8] The investigation included Colorado's standard hot mix (with AC-10), the standard cold mix (with MC-800), and a cold mix containing MC-70. Cold mix made with MC-800 was also compared with cold mixes containing polypropylene fibers and an antistripping agent.

In one repair technique, a rubberized emulsion was used to tack the sides and the bottom of a pothole. Then, layers of aggregate were placed in the hole, and each layer was covered with the emulsion. The patch was then covered with a layer of masonry sand and compacted. In some cases, a slightly different technique was used. The pothole was first tacked with the rubberized emulsion, and then the aggregate and the emulsion (thinned to two parts emulsion and one part water) were mixed inside the hole. More of this mix was added to fill the pothole. The patch was covered with a layer of sand, and a truck or a roller was used to compact the patches.

The following patching procedure was adopted when foamed asphalt was employed. MC-70 was used to tack the hole. The hole was then filled with a foamed asphalt mix. Compaction was done with a truck or a roller. Finally, MC-70 was poured on the patch and blotted with fine aggregate.

Several potholes were repaired with a hot mix produced by mixing sulflex and aggregate in an improvised drum mixer. The sulflex binder and the

aggregate were preheated to 250 °F (121 °C) and 310 °F (154 °C), respectively. The patches were compacted with a roller. The other six patching mixtures--a proprietary cold mix, a conventional hot mix with AC 10, a standard cold mix with MC-800, a cold mix with MC-800 and polypropylene fibers, a cold mix with MC-800 and an antistripping agent, and a cold mix with MC-70--were employed, separately, to fill several potholes.

By July 1980, 7 months after the study began, all the asphalt patching materials (with the exception of the sulflex and the hot mix) had failed and had to be replaced with the standard hot mix. Common failures were raveling and dishing. Also in July, the sulflex patches began to strip. The use of sulflex mixtures in portable mixers may be dangerous without proper temperature control. When sulflex is heated above 310 °F (154 °C) toxic gases are released.[9]

CONNECTICUT STUDY

In 1980, the Connecticut Department of Transportation conducted an FHWA study to develop and evaluate a number of commercial and nonproprietary patching mixes: [10] During the month of January, bituminous patching material was placed in 35 test holes, 18 in (0.46 m) by 18 in (0.46 m) by 3 in (76 mm) deep. These test holes were cut out in an asphalt concrete pavement at a location with an average daily traffic (ADT) of 25,700 vehicles per day.

In the study, the aggregate gradation, the binder type, and the use of antistripping agents were varied in an effort to produce an optimum bituminous patching mixture. The researchers selected five aggregate gradations and four binders consisting of two cutback asphalts (MC-800 and MC-250) and two emulsions (table 2). Three antistripping agents also were incorporated.

Table 3 shows the total distribution of failures observed in the bituminous patches based on aggregate gradation and binder type. Failure was defined as mechanical breakup, development of depressions, flushing, and freezeouts. The report concluded that:

		Perc	ent Passing		
lize	Proprietary A Class 14	Mix B Open Graded	Mix C Open Graded	Class 5	Dense Grade
3/4 in (19.1 mm)	90-100				
/2 in (12.7 mm)	70-100			100	
/8 in (9.5 mm)	60-82	100	100	90-100	96
o. 4	40-65	31.2	85	65-90	60
o. 8	28-50	20.2	24	45-75	41
o. 50	6-26	9.3	3.2	12-40	11 An 11 An 12 An
o. 200	2-8	2.0	2.2	3-10	3.6

Table 2. Gradation of mixtures used in Connecticut study.

Source: Reference 10.

	Failures		Asphalt Type	Failures	
Mixture Type ^l	No. of Percentage Patches of Total	No. of Patches		Percentage of Total	
Dense Graded	10	77	MC 250	8	50
Class 5	9	53	MC 800	1	20
Class 14	0	0	Emulsion A	4	57
			Emulsion B	4	50

Table 3. Distribution of failures in bituminous patches in the Connecticut study.

Source: Reference 10. l_{See} table 2.

- When a bituminous patch failure takes place, it generally occurs early in the life of the patch, especially in the presence of rain.
- Aggregate gradation plays a major role in the performance of bituminous patching mixtures.

The report recommended an ideal bituminous patching material consisting of an open gradation (class 14) with a 3/8-in (9.5 mm) maximum aggregate size, less than 2 percent fines, an MC-250 binder content between 4 and 6 percent, and an antistripping agent in a quantity of about 1 percent.

DELAWARE STUDY

In May 1984, the Delaware Department of Transportation completed the field evaluation of two cold-mix, stockpiled asphalt patching materials, one modified with the addition of a polypropylene fiber and the other made with a latex-modified emulsion.^[11] Patches were placed during the winter season. The performance of these materials was compared with the known performance of Delaware's standard cold mix and with a proprietary cold mix. The objective of the study was to determine the cost-effectiveness, mixability, workability, durability, and stockpile weathering. However, the stockpiled proprietary cold mix experienced stripping problems, and the performance of the standard mix was unusually poor. In light of these problems, a fair comparison was not possible. Therefore, the evaluation was based on visual observations. The results of this study showed the following:

- All four patching materials had a satisfactory plant mixability.
- At temperatures below 40 °F (4 °C), the latex-modified mix had poor workability. The other three mixtures, hot or cold, had satisfactory workability.
- The heated, fiber-modified, cold mix had the best durability.

PENNSYLVANIA STUDIES

A series of comprehensive pothole repair studies was completed in Pennsylvania. In the first of these, mixture design requirements were evaluated,^[12] and a new specification, PennDOT 485, for cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures was established.^[13] Subsequently, PennDOT adopted a specification for fiber-modified mixtures, PennDOT 481, and these mixtures are now used routinely in the State.^[14]

As part of the Pennsylvania studies, the standard for repairing potholes was reviewed and a guide for repairing potholes was developed.^[15,16] This procedure is referred to as the "do-it-right" or standard method and includes provisions for cutting out deteriorated material, using a plant-mixed, cold, stockpiled patching mixture, and compacting the filled hole by mechanical means. The do-it-right procedure, which has been adopted by others,^[17] was used as the standard procedure in the present study.

The effectiveness of a standard procedure used in conjunction with a well-designed and controlled cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixture was verified in another Pennsylvania study.^[18] As part of this study more than 1,000 repairs were performed on both asphalt concrete and portland cement concrete pavements. Two patching materials were investigated: PennDOT ID-2 and PennDOT 485. ID-2 is a dense-graded, hot-mix asphalt concrete normally used for wearing courses in Pennsylvania. PennDOT 485 is a stockpiled cold mix, which is discussed in detail later in this chapter.

The repairs were monitored for rutting, shoving, dishing, raveling, and cracking. After two winters more than 70 percent of the repairs were rated as being in good to excellent condition. There was no significant difference in the survival rate of repairs made with cold mix or hot mix.

The following findings were reported from the Pennsylvania field evaluation study: [18]

• A properly designed and installed cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixture can give an excellent repair.

- The cost of high quality materials and a standard procedure is considerably less than the cost of the repeated repairs associated with the short-lived throw-and-go repairs.
- Aggregate gradation and aggregate crush count are important factors in determining mixture stability.
- An open-graded crushed aggregate mix with less than 2 percent passing the No. 200 mesh sieve and with a maximum particle size of 3/8 in (9.5 mm) is required for an optimum mix.

OTHER STUDIES

A 1984 study published by the Federal Highway Administration describes pavement and shoulder maintenance guidelines for selected maintenance activities.^[19] Pothole repair was not specifically addressed. Using value engineering concepts, the report describes the materials, equipment, and procedures to be used. Optimum crew sizes and daily output are suggested, and appropriate safety precautions are recommended.

Methods for improving the patching of potholes on high-volume roads was the subject of a 1986 study sponsored by the Federal Highway Administration.^[20] The researchers visited 30 sites in nine States and documented the types of distress, procedures, equipment, and materials being used. The report concludes that the greatest single improvement in the overall operation would result from better management. Other recommendations were made in the areas of materials, equipment, and traffic control.

Other studies conducted in Pennsylvania have focused on the productivity of repair crews and the relative cost of different repair operations and materials.^[21,22] In these studies various types of equipment and procedures were evaluated and optimum repair strategies and equipment complements were identified. Small vibratory compactors were found to be the optimum choice for small-scale pothole repair, a conclusion supported by other studies.^[23]

MIX DESIGN

NCHRP <u>Synthesis of Highway Practice</u> No. 64, published in 1979, deals with the design, testing, and control of bituminous patching materials in considerable detail.^[24] The report discusses the common failures of bituminous patching mixtures and the mix properties related to these problems. Table 4 summarizes this information. According to the report, the performance of conventional, stockpiled patching mixtures in many States has been generally unsatisfactory. The report further states that many of the conventional mixes are poorly designed or are simply the result of past practice. The primary reason for this problem is the lack of a rational design procedure for these mixtures.^[24]

A 1981 study reviewed the challenges of designing a cold-mix, stockpiled patching material and then used a rational approach to design an improved bituminous mixture.^[12] The study presents an excellent discussion of the compromises that are necessary in selecting the aggregate, the aggregate gradation, the binder type, and the binder content for cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures. On the basis of this approach, Pennsylvania developed a specification for a plant-mix, stockpiled cold mix. The gradation of the aggregate in this mixture is given in table 5.[13] Depending upon the time of the year, one of the binders shown in table 6 is used. The aggregate is dried in a hot-mix asphalt plant, and both the aggregate and the binder are heated (table 7) before they are mixed (also in a central hot-mix plant). An important part of the PennDOT 485 specification is the requirement that the job-mix aggregate be tested in advance with the emulsion or cutback to ensure adequate resistance to stripping.

The performance of the PennDOT 485 mix was compared with a proprietary at various locations in Pennsylvania.^[12] The mixes were placed cold, without any heating. The first group of potholes was repaired in April 1977. More patches were placed in March 1978. Both patching materials were placed in wet potholes without any preparation. The air temperature when the repairs were made ranged from 21 °F (-6 °C) to 36 °F (2 °C), and there were occasional snow flurries. After one year, most of the patches were performing well. The performance of the PennDOT 485 mix design was verified in a subsequent study

Table 4. Failures, handling problems, and related mix properties common to bituminous patching mixtures.

H

Failure ¹ or Handling Problem	Principal Related Mixture Property
Shoving (rutting)	Stability
Lack of adhesion to sides and bottom of hole	Stickiness
Binder stripping from aggregate	Resistance to water action
Raveling	Durability
Slick surfaces	Skid resistance
Excess binder tracking and sticking to surfaces	Bleeding
Mix difficult to handle and shovel	Workability
Mix hardened in stockpile	Storability

Source: Reference 24.

¹This list does not include failures produced by improper construction practices, such as bumps caused by placing too much mixture in the hole.

	Percent Passing		
Sieve Size (mm)	Specified	Preferred	
3/8 in	100	100	
No. 4	40-100	85-100	
No. 8	15-40	10-40	
No. 16		0-10	
No. 200	0-2	0-2	

Table 5. Aggregate gradation specified for PennDOT 485 cold mix.

Source: Reference 12.

Table 6. Binder materials specified for PennDOT 485 cold mix.

Class of Material	Type of Material
MC-400	Cutback petroleum asphalt
MC-800	Cutback petroleum asphalt
ME-800	Emulsified cutback asphalt
E-10	Emulsified asphalt (high- float residue)
E-12	Cationic emulsified asphalt
RT-4	Coal tar
RT-6	Coal tar

Source: Reference 12.

	Temperature Range (°F)				
Material	Aggregate	Bituminous Material	Mixture		
MC-400	40-140	150-190	—		
MC-800	40-140	165-205			
ME-800	40-140	175 max	·		
E-10 and E-12	Appropriate for specified mix temperature	140-175	190-250		
RT-4	100-200	130-150	100-190		
RT-6	100-200	130-175	100-190		

Table 7. Mixing temperatures specified for PennDOT 485 cold mix.

择

 $^{\circ}F = 9/5$ ($^{\circ}C$) + 32.

Source: Reference 12.

in which more than 70 percent of nearly 400 cold-mix repairs were intact after two winters.[18]

SUMMARY

The experience with conventional cold, stockpiled patching mixtures as well as with proprietary mixes has been varied. Many agencies are searching for a cold mix that can be placed in the hole without prior preparation or subsequent compaction. None of the mixes, conventional or proprietary, have performed well under these conditions. When proper hole preparation and compaction are provided, properly designed conventional cold mixes can give satisfactory performance under many circumstances. However, improved materials are needed that

- Are more resistant to high-volume traffic and heavy axle loads
- Are more tolerant of cold, wet weather conditions
- Are more tolerant of placement procedures
- Have better workability at low temperatures
- Develop their strength or cure more rapidly in the hole, especially before the onset of hot weather.

The literature supports the concept of an open-graded cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixture. Requirements include a maximum of 2 percent passing the No. 200 mesh sieve and a maximum aggregate size of 3/8 in (9.5 mm). The use of tacking materials is cited as being detrimental to performance. The heating of cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures to remove some of the solvent in the binder is considered beneficial, which verifies the need for a stiffer binder. Finally, a mix design procedure for cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures with conventional binders was described, and this procedure was adopted for use in the present study.

3. FAILURE MECHANISMS AND PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS

In order to develop an improved patching mixture for cold, wet weather conditions, it is first necessary to identify the deficiencies of the mixtures that are in current use. These deficiencies are reflected in poor performance or premature failure, which may be initiated in the stockpile, during handling and placement, or in service.

A list of the types of inadequate performance and their probable causes is given in table 8. This information is based on the literature review, the authors' experience, and discussions with transportation officials and with material and equipment suppliers. From the information in table 8, it is apparent that, in the development and evaluation of new mixtures, performance during stockpiling, placement, and service must be considered as well as the properties of the aggregate and the binder.

MECHANISMS IN THE STOCKPILE

Poor workability, drainage of the binder, and stripping were the most commonly cited mix deficiencies at the stockpile (table 8). Mix workability is affected by a number of factors including the gradation of the aggregate, the stiffness of the binder, the quantity of the binder, and premature curing. Any appreciable quantity of minus No. 200 mesh material adversely affects workability because it stiffens the binder. The minus No. 200 mesh dust in the mix should be no greater than 1 to 2 percent to ensure adequate workability.^[12] Moreover, mixtures with a maximum aggregate size greater than 3/8 to 1/2 in (9.5 to 12.7 mm) are hard to handle, work, and finish.^[12]

A soft binder enhances workability. However, a soft binder is undesirable with respect to stripping and drainage. Stripping can occur in the stockpile because the aggregate is not properly coated during mixing or through the washing action of rainfall and snow. Although stripping could be minimized by covering the stockpile with a tarpaulin, if the mix strips in the stockpile, it is likely that it will strip in service. In order to minimize the occurrence of stripping, aggregate-binder compatibility should be checked

Table 8. Problems and failure mechanisms in cold-mix patching materials.

Pro	blem or Symptom		
	of Failure		Probable Causes - Failure Mechanisms
		In S	tockpile
1.	Hard to work	1.1	Binder too stiff
		1.2	To many fines in aggregate, dirty aggregate
		1.3	Mix too coarse or too fine
2.	Binder drains to	2.1	Binder too soft
	bottom of pile	2.2	Stockpiled or mixed at too high a temperature
3.	Loss of coating	3.1	Stripping
	in stockpile	3.2	Inadequate coating during mixing
	•	3.3	Cold or wet aggregate
4.	Lumps — premature hardening	4.1	Binder cures prematurely
F	Min the stiff in	5 1	Dindon too stiff for slimate
5.	MIX COO SCIII IN	5.2	Tempenature suggestibility of hinder tee
cold weather	5.2	great	
		5.3	Too many fines in aggregate, dirty aggregate
		5.4	Mix too coarse or too fine
		Duri	ng Placement
6.	Too hard to shovel	6.1	Binder too stiff
		6.2	Too many fines, dirty aggregate
		6.3	Mix too coarse or too fine
7.	Softens excessively	7.1	Binder too soft
	upon heating (when		
	used with hot box)		
8	Hard to compact	8 1	Insufficient mix stability
0.	(Appears "tender"	8.2	Too much hinder
	during compaction)	8.3	Insufficient voids in mineral aggregate
	during compaction/	8.4	Poor aggregate interlock
		8.5	Binder too soft
9	Hard to compact	9.1	Binder too stiff
	(Appears stiff	9.2	Excess fines
	during compaction)	9.3	Improper gradation
		9.4	Harsh mix - aggregate surface texture or
			particle shape

Table 8. Problems and failure mechanisms in cold-mix patching materials. (continued)

Prob	lem or Symptom of Failure		Probable Causes - Failure Mechanisms
		<u>In Se</u>	ervice
10	Pushing showing	10 1	Poor compaction
10.	rubhing, bhoving	10.2	Binder too soft
		10.3	Too much hinder
		10.4	Tack material contaminates mix
		10.5	Binder highly temperature-susceptible, causing mix to soften in hot weather
		10.6	Inservice curing rate too slow
		10.7	Moisture damagestripping
		10.8	Poor aggregate interlock
		10.9	Insufficient voids in mineral aggregate
11.	Dishing	11.1	Poor compaction
		11.2	Mixture compacts under traffic
12.	Raveling	12.1	Poor compaction
		12.2	Binder too soft
		12.3	Poor cohesion in mix
		12.4	Poor aggregate interlock
		12.5	Moisture damagestripping
		12.6	Absorption of binder by aggregate
		12.7	Excessive fines, dirty aggregate
		12.8	Aggregate gradation too fine or too coarse
13.	Freeze-thaw	13.1	Míx too permeable
	deterioration	13.2	Poor cohesion in mix
		13.3	Moisture damagestripping
14.	Poor skid resistance	14.1	Excessive binder
		14.2	Aggregate not skid resistant
		. 4.3	Gradation too dense
15.	Shrinkage or lack of	15.1	Poor adhesion
	adhesion to sides	15.2	No tack used, or mix not self-tacking
	of hole	15.3	Poor hole preparation

Note: In some instances items appear as both symptoms and causes. It is difficult to separate the symptoms from the causes in some cases.

as part of the mix design. This can be done by performing a moisture sensitivity test with the job mix aggregate and binder.^[13] A much more important reason for covering the stockpile is that ice in the stockpile adversely affects the workability of the mix.

Drainage, which occurs when the binder drains from the aggregate and becomes concentrated on the bottom of the pile, can be caused by improper stockpiling temperatures, excessive binder in the mix, or the selection of a binder that is too soft. Stockpiles that are higher than 6 ft (2 m) may result in an excess of drained binder at the bottom of the pile.^[12]

The curing characteristics of the binder are also very important during stockpiling. Although some "skinning" may be expected in the stockpile, it should not be so pronounced that the mix is hard to work or lumpy. Finally, the viscosity-temperature characteristics of the binder must permit the mix to be worked over the range of temperatures encountered during handling and placement.

MECHANISMS DURING TRANSPORT AND PLACEMENT

Workability of the mix is the primary concern during transport and placement. Additional considerations include compactability and drainage in hot boxes used for transporting the mix. Hot-box drainage usually occurs when the mix is heated excessively and, therefore, is a procedural rather than a mix design problem. This project is concerned with mixes that will be handled or placed with no heating or minimal heating (less than 140 °F (60 °C)). Mixes used in reclaimers or portable mixers where temperatures exceed 140 °F (60 °C) require different mix design criteria and are outside the scope of this project. [18]

Compactability and workability are related. Workability refers to the ease with which a mix can be shoveled and handled. Although a workable mix is not necessarily easy to compact, a mix with poor workability is generally difficult to compact. A workable mix can usually be compacted without difficulty unless the workability is gained by using an excessive amount of binder or a very soft binder; neither case will result in a stable repair.

Immediately after compaction, the mix must be stable and not susceptible to pushing or shoving even though there is no appreciable curing of the binder. Therefore, the stability immediately after compaction is primarily obtained through careful attention to aggregate properties.

ŧi.

INSERVICE MECHANISMS

The most commonly encountered inservice failures are pushing or shoving, raveling, and dishing. Other failure mechanisms may include freeze-thaw deterioration, poor skid resistance, and lack of adhesion to the side or bottom of the repair (see table 8).

Pushing and Shoving

Pushing and shoving under traffic may be caused by a number of factors, all of which reduce the stability of the mix. In order to maximize stability the aggregate should be crushed, open-graded, and contain no more than 2 percent passing the No. 200 mesh sieve.^[12] Inadequately compacted mixes also are susceptible to pushing and shoving, because compaction is required to develop the aggregate interlock that is primarily responsible for mixture stability.

A soft binder may contribute to mixture instability, and, therefore, the binder should not be too soft nor should the binder soften excessively in hot weather. In order to maximize stability the binder should cure as quickly as possible once the patch is made. Stripping or emulsification of the binder as a result of the action of traffic and water can reduce mix stability and cause pushing or shoving. Bleeding, caused by inadequate voids, compaction under traffic, or excessive binder, can have the same results.

Shoving and pushing can be caused by a nonstable mix resulting from the contamination of tacking or sealing materials that have migrated into the mix. Unless the tacking material is applied in a very thin film, it will contribute to the binder content of the patch. It may soften the binder and thus result in an excess amount of soft binder. Ideally, cold mixes should be

self-tacking, thus eliminating the need for tacking material and equipment and thereby precluding its misapplication.

Ideally, once the mix is placed in the hole, the binder should cure immediately, leaving a stiff binder. Open-graded mixes allegedly facilitate early curing, thereby promoting mix stability; however, the researchers' experience in exhuming two-year-old open-graded patches (PennDOT 485) made with MC binders refutes this. The binder in the patches examined after several years of service was soft and still exhibited a considerable kerosene-like odor. A cured patch that is more flexible than the existing pavement is desirable to accommodate shrinkage, reflection cracking, and frost heaving in the pavement. To this extent, cold mixes are to be preferred over conventional hot mixes.

Dishing

Dishing occurs when the mix compacts under traffic, leaving a depression in the repaired surface. Dishing is invariably the result of inadequate compaction, assuming that the mix has been properly designed and has not cured prematurely in the stockpile. Therefore, the dishing mechanism is not responsive to new and improved binders but is properly addressed through mixture design and proper compaction.

Raveling

Raveling is defined as a progressive loss of aggregate from the surface of the repair and is due to inadequate cohesion within the mix. Inadequate aggregate interlock or poor compaction may reduce cohesion sufficiently to allow raveling to occur. Perhaps the most prevalent cause of raveling is the loss of adhesion between the binder and the aggregate, although most of the factors that cause pushing and shoving may also contribute to raveling.

Absorptive aggregate, or aggregate that selectively absorbs the cutter stock from the binder, can reduce the stickiness and self-tacking character of the mix, which may lead to raveling. An excessive amount of fines (minus
No. 200 mesh) may have the same effect because the fines become incorporated into the binder, causing it to become stiffer and less tacky. Mixes with thick binder films tend to be "stickier" or more cohesive. This requires a gradation that is open (low in fines), so that there is sufficient space within the aggregate to prevent the mix from bleeding. Modification of the rheology of the binder to enhance thixotropy (shear thinning) will allow the use of mixes with thicker films.

Freeze-Thaw Resistance

Freeze-thaw deterioration has been reported as a problem by some researchers. The most commonly cited mechanism is the delamination of the patch from the original pavement as a result of the freezing of water at the bottom of the repair. The deleterious effects of freezing water in open mixes have been cited as a potential problem, but this is not well supported by field observations. Much of the freeze-thaw damage is undoubtedly due to the improper adhesion of the patch to the bottom of the hole, which in turn may be the result of improper compaction, tacking, or hole preparation.

Skid Resistance

Poor skid resistance can result from a flushed or bleeding surface or from polished aggregate. Nonpolishing aggregates that retain adequate microtexture during service should be employed where high levels of skid resistance are needed. The 3/8- to 1/2-in (9.5 to 12.7 mm) maximum aggregate size and the open gradation specified for cold stockpiled patching mixtures should ensure adequate macrotexture. Macrotexture may deteriorate in service because of flushing or bleeding, which can be caused by excess asphalt, inadequate voids, or stripping. These factors can be controlled with an appropriate mix design. Stripping and the subsequent movement of the binder to the surface of the mix have been observed by the authors. This occurrence is facilitated by a relatively soft, uncured binder.

SUMMARY

In summary, the binder, the aggregate, and the binder-aggregate interactions (moisture damage) must be considered as factors in the failure of cold-mix patching materials. Little latitude is available in the gradation of the aggregate: a crushed, angular aggregate ranging in size from No. 8 to 1/2 in (12.7 mm) is the optimum size aggregate to maximize stability and workability and yet obtain sufficient voids to hold thick binder films without bleeding. Improved binders offer the best opportunity for upgrading cold-mix performance. The binder must be resistant to moisture damage in the stockpile; in service it must be workable during transport and placement; and it must produce stability after placement.

A summary of the design considerations required with cold mixes is given in table 9. In addition, worker safety, environmental implications, and cost must be considered. This discussion has been predicated on conventional cold-mix design. Other approaches may be viable, such as filling the hole by successive applications of aggregate and binder, much as in a multiple seal coat or a voidless mix that is poured into the hole. These nonconventional approaches require other design considerations that are material- or system-specific. Such approaches were outside the scope of this study.

PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS

In order to develop improved patching materials for use in cold, wet weather, a series of performance requirements is needed that can be used as a developmental guideline. These performance requirements should reflect the underlying mechanisms that are responsible for premature failure. A summary of the desired performance requirements is given in table 10. Suggested laboratory procedures to ensure these qualities are discussed below. Details of the laboratory procedures used in the project are given in chapters 4 and 5, where acceptance criteria are also discussed.

Drainage resistance is necessary in the stockpile and during transport in a heated box. This requirement can be tested simply by placing a quantity of the mixture on a plate and observing the amount of binder that drains to the

Table 9. Design considerations for cold mixes.

H

Des	ign Considerations	Effect on Mixture			
1.	Binder consistency	1.1	Too stiff may give noor coating during mixing		
	(before and during	1.2	Too stiff makes mix hard to shovel, compact		
	placement)	1.3	Too soft causes drainage in stockpile or hot		
	 A second sec second second sec		box		
		1.4	Too soft may cause stripping in stockpile		
		1.5	Too soft may contribute to "tenderness"		
			during compaction		
-					
2.	Binder consistency	2.1	Too soft accelerates stripping, moisture		
	(after placement)	• •	damage inservice		
		2.2	Too soft accentuates rutting, shoving		
		2.3	loo sort may lead to bleeding, which causes		
		24	Must cure ranidly to develop cohesion		
		2.5	High temperature susceptibility causes		
			softening and rutting in summer		
3.	Binder content	3.1	Maximize to improve workability		
		3.2	Excess causes drainage in stockpile or hot		
			box and a second s		
		3.3	Excess may lower skid resistance (bleeding)		
		3.4	Excess may cause shoving and rutting		
		3.5	Low binder content gives poor cohesion		
4.	Antistripping additive	4.1	Correct type and quantity may reduce moisture		
			damage		
5.	Aggregate shape and	5.1	Angular and rough aggregate gives good		
	texture		resistance to rutting and shoving but is		
		5 0	nard to work Rounded and smooth sives good workshility but		
		J•2	poor resistance to rutting and shoving		
			poor represented to raceing and showing		
6.	Aggregate gradation	6.1	Reduced fines improves workability		
		6.2	Excess fines can reduce "stickiness" of mix		
· .		6.3	Coarse ($>1/2$ in) mixes are hard to shovel		
		6.4	Open-graded mixes can cure rapidly but allow		
			water ingress		
		6.5	Well-graded mixes are more stable		
		6.6	Dirty aggregate may increase moisture damage		
		6.7	Too dense a gradation will lead to bleeding		
			or thin binder coating, and a dry mixture		
		(0	with poor durability		
		p•8	upen or permeable mix may be poor in		
			LICELC-LIIAW IESISLANCE		
7.	Other additives	7.1	Short fibers increase cohesion, decrease		
			workability		

Table 10. Performance requirements of patching materials.

- 1. Drainage Resistance
- 2. Workability
- 3. Stripping Resistance (uncured)
- 4. Self-Tacking
- 5. Complete Curing (at the proper time)
- 6. Stability
- 7. Bleeding Resistance
- 8. Nonraveling
- 9. Freeze-Thaw Resistance
- 10. Safe for Workers
- 11. Environmentally Acceptable
- 12. Skid Resistance

surface of the plate. A hot-box can be simulated by placing the plate in an oven heated to 140 °F (60 °C). The length of time for evaluating hot-box drainage should be equivalent to the storage time, typically no more than 8 hours.

Workability is required during handling operations at the stockpile and during placement. The mix must be workable over its design temperature range, and therefore the test procedure should be conducted at the working temperatures. Workability has been simulated by others by cooling the mix to the appropriate temperature and working a small quantity with a hand spatula.^[12] This test is fairly unsophisticated but quite discerning to the trained observer. A more sophisticated test based on penetration resistance may be warranted. A new test procedure based upon the pocket penetrometer was developed for use in the project.

The stripping resistance of the uncured mix was evaluated with a heated immersion test used by PennDOT.^[12] Although it may be argued that an immersion or boiling test is unsophisticated, the scope of this project did not provide for the development of new test procedures for stripping resistance. Moreover, it is important that a relatively simple test procedure be adopted so that it can be readily performed in the field.

The tacking characteristics of the mix were evaluated by placing a pavement core on the bottom of a compaction mold and compacting the cold mix on top of the core. The mix was then sheared from the face of the core, and the maximum force required to cause failure was recorded. A moisture-conditioning step was also included in the test procedure.

It is important that the mix cure after it has been placed in the hole but that it not become skinned-over in the stockpile. Skinning was evaluated by placing a thin layer (approximately 2 in (50 mm) thick) of the mix in a pan in an oven and observing subjectively the stiffness of the cured mix.

One of the key performance characteristics is the stability of the compacted material. No accepted test procedure exists for the evaluation of the stability of cold mixes. The Marshall design procedure was developed for

dense-graded hot mixes and is inappropriate for open-graded, cold-mix stockpiled mixtures. Limited use was made of the Hveem stabilometer to measure mix stability. Resistance to shoving was measured with a modified penetration test in which the cold mix was compacted in a 6-in-diameter (150 mm) mold, and a 1/2-in (13 mm) loading foot was applied to the surface of the compacted mix in a repeated mode.

Stability is also enhanced by proper attention to aggregate gradation and aggregate properties. Aggregate gradation plays an important role in many of the performance requirements for cold mixes and was given particular attention during the developmental stages of this project.

The proper amount of binder in the mix was established by the maximum amount that the aggregate can hold without any measurable drainage. Once the mix is compacted in the hole, there should be sufficient voids within the mineral aggregate to hold this quantity of binder, with at least 5 to 8 percent air voids to ensure resistance to bleeding. No direct test for bleeding resistance was conducted other than a simple voids analysis.

One of the most commonly cited performance requirements is the resistance to raveling. Raveling is caused by such different factors as poor compaction, lack of moisture resistance, and improper binder characteristics. If the other performance requirements discussed in this section and listed in table 10 are met, the researchers believe that the mixture will contain sufficient resistance to raveling. Therefore, no direct test procedure for raveling was conducted.

The lack of freeze-thaw resistance has been cited by some researchers as contributing to premature failure. There is no standard freeze-thaw test for dense, bituminous hot mixes because they are not susceptible to freeze-thaw damage. However, freeze-thaw resistance was evaluated by the repeated freezing and thawing of saturated, compacted mixes. A 2 1/2-in-thick (64 mm) specimen was compacted in a 6-in-diameter (150 mm) mold. The specimen was saturated and repeatedly frozen and thawed. If the freeze-thaw mechanism is indeed valid, the openness of the cold mixes should cause expansive forces in the mix, resulting in an observable loss of material from the sample surface.

Several other considerations must be addressed in the development of new mixes. First, worker safety is of paramount importance. The binder materials and solvents must not create a fire hazard nor be toxic as defined by safety and environmental control agencies such as OSHA and EPA. This requirement precluded the use of such materials as asbestos fibers, sulfur, and other organic additives. The patching material must also not release any toxic chemicals to the environment that can cause roadside pollution or other environmental degradation. In most States, cutbacks are permitted in winter maintenance work; however, their use is restricted in some States.

Satisfying the above requirements necessitates a trade-off among many different factors. For example, the open gradation that facilitates workability also causes the mix to be permeable. A binder that improves workability may lower mix stability. The design of cold patching mixes is a continuing compromise among the desired engineering properties.

4. BINDER SELECTION

The primary objective of this study was to select and test new or improved binders that can be used for cold, wet weather patching. In accordance with the requirements of the contract, the binders were developed using only current, readily available technologies. It was further required that the cost of these binders be compatible with the cost of the conventional emulsions or cutbacks.

The selection of the candidate binders was based upon a review of the literature, the experience of the research team, and a series of small trial batches of binder manufactured in the subcontract or's laboratory in Tulsa, Oklahoma. Approximately 40 binders were initially screened in the laboratory, using small beaker-scale batches. These binders were evaluated subjectively for their workability and drainage. They were then compared for potential cost, ease of production and handling, and availability. Based on the initial screening, 11 different binder systems were recommended for detailed laboratory study and were identified as candidate binders.

A detailed laboratory test program was conducted with the ll binder systems and, based on this testing, 4 binder systems plus l system modified with fibers were selected for field study. This chapter summarizes the materials that were considered in the initial screening process and describes the results of the detailed laboratory studies on the ll binders that were selected as candidate binders.

CONVENTIONAL MATERIALS

Most cold, wet weather, stockpiled patching materials are produced with cutback asphalt cement. The grade of the cutback varies according to the climate and the season.^[20] Typically, MC-250 is used for winter patching although intermediate grades, such as the MC-400 used in Pennsylvania, are sometimes specified. The diluent or solvent used to make the MC-400 or MC-800 cutback is typically gas oil or kerosene, which is supposed to evaporate after placement. However, much of the solvent remains in the patch for a relatively long period of time, thereby imparting a certain degree of flexibility to the

patch. Depending upon the source of the aggregate, it may be necessary to add an antistrip additive to the cutback to promote adhesion in the presence of water. These antistrip additives are useful in promoting adhesion in the stockpile as well as during service. Other than the selection of the appropriate antistrip additive, little additional formulation is done with the cutback asphalts used for cold, wet weather, patching materials.

The primary advantages of the cutback asphalts are their relative simplicity of use and low cost. Without any additional modification, little can be done to improve the workability of these mixtures or to improve their resistance to deformation under traffic. The main disadvantage of cutback-based stockpiled materials is their potential for air pollution because of the release of solvent.

Emulsions are sometimes used as alternatives to cutback asphalt cement. To obtain the necessary workability in the stockpile, mixing-grade emulsions are generally used. These emulsions are often made with cutback asphalt; however, the percentage of solvent is considerably reduced, typically two-thirds of the solvent required for an MC cutback. As with cutback asphalt cement, it is necessary to formulate the emulsion so that it will have adequate adhesion in the stockpile and during service. Although asphalt emulsions are slightly more expensive than the cutback asphalts, they offer the advantage of reduced air pollution.

Asphalt emulsions may be modified with the use of surfactants to produce high-float emulsions (ASTM D 977). High-float emulsions exhibit thixotropic or shear-thinning characteristics that allow the retention of much thicker films of residual asphalt on the aggregate. This shear-thinning effect is also an aid in workability because the asphalt becomes more fluid as it is worked. Thus, the asphalt will appear to be relatively stiff while it is in the stockpile, but with working, the asphalt will shear thin, yielding an improvement in workability. After placement, the thixotropy allows the retention of a thicker film on the aggregate without drainage. Although high-float emulsions have been used for cold, wet weather patching, their use has been rather limited. Because they offer promise for cold, wet weather,

stockpiled patching mixtures, they were ultimately included in the field trials.

MODIFIED BINDERS

In recent years considerable attention has been given to the use of modified asphalt in hot-mix asphalt and in seal coats. Relatively little attention has been given to the modification of cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures because these mixtures are generally considered low-cost, low technology applications. However, asphalt modifiers offer opportunities for enhancing the performance of pothole repair mixes.

Plastics

Plastics are organic polymers that are rigid at room temperatures. They generally impart stiffness and decreased flexibility when added to asphalt cement. Although plastics may be manufactured in a variety of different ways, they can be summarized briefly with respect to their properties as follows.

Epoxy-based materials are two-component systems with excellent tensile strength but very little ductility. They are difficult to melt into the asphalt. Consequently, they are poor candidates as modifiers for cold, wet-weather, patching materials. Although polyesters are easily melted into asphalt cement, they have the same shortcomings as the epoxies.

Urethanes, which are multicomponent systems, do not readily formulate in asphalt, and they are very sensitive to the oily phase in the asphalt cement. Therefore, their compatibility with asphalt cement depends upon the source and composition of the asphalt. Urethane materials are discussed further, below, with liquid butadiene.

Atactic polyethylene/polypropylenes are rigid plastics that are used in roofing asphalts and hot-mix asphalt systems. These materials improve the long-term durability of asphalt cement but offer little improvement in low-temperature ductility. The equipment needed to shear and mix these polymers into asphalt cement is very expensive, and, to the knowledge of the

research team, the polymer base has not been successfully emulsified. Therefore, the use of these materials was not considered.

Ethylene vinyl acetate (EVA) is easily mixed with asphalt cement and is easily emulsified. This class of polymers is currently being evaluated by industry for use in seal coat emulsions and hot-mix asphalt concrete, but it does not impart significantly improved low-temperature ductility or workability. Therefore, the EVA polymers are not beneficial modifiers for cold-mix, stockpiled mixtures.

A great many other plastics are potential candidates, including silicones or thio (sulfur) systems. These are generally very expensive and require special process and handling equipment and formulating expertise. As noted above, plastics generally impart stiffness or decreased flexibility when added to asphalt cement. This characteristic is undesirable. Because the plastics do not, as a group, show promise as modifiers for cold, wet weather, stockpiled patching mixtures, they were not included in the list of candidate binders for this study.

Elastomers

This group of polymers is currently receiving the most attention in the asphalt industry as asphalt modifiers. It includes a great number of materials and offers rather diverse enhancements to asphalt cement. Elastomers are organic polymers that can withstand large degrees of elongation without rupture and, when unloaded, return to their original shape. The rubber in an elastic band and natural rubber are examples of elastomers.

<u>Neoprene</u>. Neoprene rubber is an elastomer that has excellent weatherability and adheres tenaciously to aggregate, but its compatibility with asphalt cement is sensitive to the crude source. Neoprene is very hard to disperse in asphalt because of its high resistance to solution by oils. Neoprene rubber is often used in the shoe industry for heels and soles because of its oil resistance.

Neoprene may be produced as a latex in a post-blended or co-milled form. The water can be flushed off to make a polymer base for hot-mix applications, or the emulsified latex can be added directly to the asphalt during emulsification. Neoprene latex emulsions are generally produced in the anionic form, but in this form they suffer from the same compatibility and solubility problems as neoprene. Only one cationic/nonionic is marketed in the United States at this time. The results of the initial screening and the previous experience of the researchers showed that the anionic neoprene latex would have drainage problems and would exhibit poor low-temperature workability. As a consequence, neoprenes were not included in the list of candidate binders.

<u>Polyolefins</u>. The polyolefins are a loosely defined group of polymers without styrene, which generally exhibit rubbery characteristics. Polyolefins may be produced as solids, in a liquid form, or as a latex.

In the solid form, polyolefins are usually delivered as bales, as crumb, or as ground rubber. They generally have a very high molecular weight and are made by solution polymerization.

1. Ethylene polypropylene diene monomer (EPDM) is very popular in roofing applications because of its resistance to weathering. It is used in specialty compounds, requires special handling techniques and equipment, and is very expensive. Therefore, it is not appropriate for cold, wet-weather, patching mixtures.

2. Styrene ethylene butylene styrene (SEBS) is being manufactured in only one form in the United States at the present time. It exhibits very good resistance to weathering but requires special handling equipment and, therefore, was not included as a candidate binder.

3. Butyl/isoprene polymers are usually solids and are used in adhesives. However, they need special handling equipment and were, therefore, eliminated as candidate binders.

4. Butadiene is compatible with asphalt but provides little enhancement in properties. It also requires special handling equipment and, therefore, was eliminated as a candidate binder.

Liquid polyolefins are usually lower in molecular weight than their solid counterparts. When heated, these materials pour readily and are easily mixed or dissolved with asphalt cement.

1. Butyl rubber is particularly noted for its adhesion-promoting characteristics. It is commonly used and was chosen as one of the modifiers for that reason. There are two sources of butyl rubber in the United States. Kalene 800 was chosen because it has the higher molecular weight and was the most promising in the initial screening tests.

2. Butadiene is another liquid polyolefin polymer that has considerable promise as an asphalt modifier. A hydroxy-terminated liquid butadiene is available that could be used as a viscosity enhancer through urethane linkages. Although the initial screening showed some potential in this regard, the results were not as promising as with the liquid butyl rubber and, therefore, it was not used. Other liquid butadienes are currently available but were not available when the initial survey tests were conducted (1984).

3. A third option within the liquid polyolefins is isoprene. From prior experience, it is known that this polymer is not a good emulsion viscosity builder and, therefore, it was dropped in favor of the liquid butyl rubber.

The polyolefins can also be manufactured in latex form, but they have not been used in this form as asphalt modifiers. Because considerable development work would be required, they were dropped from the list of candidate binders.

<u>Natural Rubber</u>. Natural rubber has been used for many years in asphalt cement. It exhibits poor storage stability when used in emulsions and has poor heat stability. Most of the natural latex is imported into the United States. Natural latex may be supplied in a solid, liquid, or latex form. The latex form is most commonly used in asphalt cement. Because other polymers

offer greater enhancement potential than the natural rubbers, the natural rubbers were dropped from the list of candidate materials.

<u>Reclaimed Tire Rubber</u>. Reclaimed tires, when used in asphalt paving binders, are generally ground and added to hot asphalt. Extremely hot temperatures are required to depolymerize the rubber and to dissolve it into the asphalt cement. The use of these materials was beyond the scope of the project.

<u>Styrene-Butadiene Polymers</u>. These polymers are the ones used most frequently in asphalt systems. Their compatibility with asphalt may vary from poor to excellent depending on specific type, molecular weight, polymerization mechanism, and other factors. They may be supplied in solid, latex, or liquid form. The dry form is made by polymerizing styrene and butadiene. The solution styrene-butadiene polymers are made by polymerizing styrene and butadiene in a solvent. The solvent is then removed by evaporation. These polymers may be randomly polymerized with no attempt to structure the polymer. For this reason, the polymer obtains a high molecular weight. Consequently, the resulting polymers are difficult to dissolve in asphalt cement and are very sensitive to asphalt source.

Block polymerization results in highly structured polymers. These materials have received considerable attention as asphalt modifiers because of their relatively low price and excellent performance potential. At the time of the initial screening (1984), SBR latex was the most commonly used asphalt modifier and this is still true. There are several sources of SBR latex. The latex is added to the hot asphalt cement and, with gentle stirring, the water is flushed off. This is in contrast to the block copolymer (SBS), for which special equipment is required.

The SBR latex imparts low-temperature ductility, reduces temperature susceptibility, and improves tackiness and adhesion. For these reasons, and because of its lower cost, it was included in the study.

SELECTION OF CANDIDATE BINDERS

On the basis of the initial screening tests and the literature review, the following systems and modifiers were identified as candidate systems that warranted further laboratory study:

- MC-800, wich is typical of current practice and therefore used as a control.
- Mixing grade MS emulsions, which also is typical of current practice and therefore used as a control.
- HFMS emulsions, which, because of their thixotropic nature, allow potentially thicker asphalt films and an extended workability range.

Modifiers that were selected for further study included:

- SBR latex, which is the most commonly used polymeric modifier of asphalt cement. It also reduces the stiffness of asphalt cement and has the potential for improving low-temperature workability.
- Liquid butyl rubber, which has many of the same attributes as the SBR latex, but is noted especially for its adhesion-promoting properties.
- SBS block copolymer, which is the most costly of the candidate modifiers, but also potentially offers the greatest improvements in properties. At the time the binders were selected, the SBS block copolymer was difficult to disperse in asphalt cement.

Each of the base systems and modifiers that were chosen for study represents existing technology and will not require extensive development to implement. No special handling equipment or environmental or safety precautions are needed to use them in the field. The preliminary list of candidate binders is given in table 11.

Additive	Basic System	Designation
Styrene Butadiene	CMS, Cationic Medium-Set Emulsion	CMS-2L
Rubber (SBR)	HFMS, High-Float Medium-Set Emulsion	HFMS-2L
Latex	MC-400, Medium-Cure Cutback	MC-400L
Butyl Rubber	CMS, Cationic Medium-Set Emulsion	CMS-2B
•	HFMS, High-Float Medium-Set Emulsion	HFMS-2B
	MC-400, Medium-Cure Cutback	MC-400B
Block Copolymer	CMS, Cationic Medium-Set Emulsion	CMS-2BC
	HFMS, High-Float Medium-Set Emulsion	HFMS-2BC
	MC-800, Medium-Cure Cutback	MC-800BC

Table 11. Preliminary list of candidate binders.

TEST PROCEDURES

The next step in the selection process was to evaluate the candidate binders by mixing them with three lithologically different aggregates: crushed limestone, traprock, and gravel. The limestone was obtained from central Pennsylvania, while the traprock and gravel were collected from the eastern and western parts of Pennsylvania, respectively. A brief description of these aggregates is given in table 12. The gradation used to produce the experimental mixes, along with the PennDOT 485 specification for cold, wet weather, stockpiled patching materials, is shown in table 13.^[13] The same gradation was used in the laboratory studies and for the field mixes.

The preliminary evaluation of the candidate binders was done by the subcontractor and consisted of an evaluation of coating during mixing, potential for stripping, drainage, and workability. The subcontractor has developed a simple test to evaluate the coatability of cold-mixed emulsion mixtures. This test, which is routinely used in their laboratory, was applied to the candidate mixes. This test is used to determine the percentage of the aggregate that is coated after 5 minutes of hand mixing and was used to evaluate the coatability characteristics of each binder. In this procedure, approximately 200 g of aggregate is placed in a glass beaker, the emulsion or cutback is added to the aggregate, and the mixture is stirred for 5 minutes. After 5 minutes of mixing, the contents of the beaker are poured onto a paper towel, and the percentage of aggregate that is coated is evaluated visually. The test is conducted with two different aggregate moisture contents: oven-dried and 3 percent moisture by weight of dry aggregate. In order to pass this test, at least 90 percent of the aggregate must be coated at the end of the test.

The standard PennDOT water resistance test was used to evaluate stripping.^[13] This test, which is designed especially for cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures, consists of submersing 100 g of the prepared patching mixture in distilled water in a l-quart (l L) jar and placing it in the oven for 16 to 18 hours at a temperature of 140 °F \pm 5 °F (60 °C \pm 3 °C). After the submersion period, the mixture is shaken vigorously in the jar, the water is poured off, and the mixture is spread on absorbent paper. Then the

Generic Name	Rock Type	Specific Gravity	Absorption (%)
Limestone	Dolomite	2.82	0.49
Traprock	Argillite	2.67	1.25
Gravel	Complex glacial deposit, reworked by river	2.58	1.93

Table 12. Aggregates used in laboratory mixes.

Table 13. Aggregate gradation used in experimental mixes.

Sieve Size	PennDOT 485 Spec. limits (% Passing)	Penn State Mix Design (% Passing)
3/8 in (9.5 mm)	100	100
No. 4	40-100	85
No. 8	10-45	15
No. 200	0-2	1.0

Note: When fibers were incorporated in the mix, it was done at the rate of 0.125% of total mix (by weight). mix is evaluated visually to determine the percentage of the aggregate that remains coated. The mix is rejected if less than 90 percent of the aggregate retains its coating.

The drainage test used in this study is a simple modification of the test procedure that was originally used for open-graded friction courses.^[24] In this test procedure, 1000 g of prepared mix is placed on a glass plate; the plate is then placed in a 140 °F \pm 5 °F (60 °C \pm 3 °C) oven for 24 hours. At the end of the 24-hour period, the plate is removed from the oven, and the binder residue remaining on the plate is weighed. The drainage is reported in grams of residual asphalt remaining on the plate after the curing period in the oven. There is no accepted criterion for this nonstandard test procedure. The researchers found that the drainage was excessive when the residue on the pan exceeded 5 to 6 percent of the weight of the binder in the sample. Therefore, 4 percent was established as a maximum limit for drainage. During the initial screening of the candidate binders, a smaller 200-g sample was used because of the limited amount of material that was available. In the later testing a full 1000-g sample was used. A 10-in (250 mm) disposable aluminum pie plate was used instead of a glass plate.

The standard PennDOT workability test was used to measure the workability of the candidate mixtures.^[13] In this test procedure, approximately 5 lb (2.3 kg) of mix is placed on a tray and cooled in a freezer at 20 °F (-7 °C). After the mix has cooled, it is worked with a spatula and the workability is rated subjectively. A subjective rating of strong pass, pass, marginal pass, marginal fail, or fail was assigned to each mix according to the ease with which it could be worked with a spatula.

PRELIMINARY TEST RESULTS

The initial testing of the candidate binders was done using dolomite as the aggregate because dolomite would be used for the field trials. The results of the testing for the emulsion and cutback type binders are shown in tables 14 and 15. Except for the MC-800BC cutback mixed with wet aggregate, all of the cutback systems showed acceptable coating after mixing. When a commercial antistripping agent was added to the MC-800BC, the percentage coated after mixing increased from 30 percent to 100 percent. In all

Emulsion Type	Polymer Type	Residual Asphalt (%)	Aggregate Moisture (%)	% Aggregate Coated after 5 min. Mixing	% Aggregate Coated after Immersion ¹	Drainage ² (%)	Workability
CMS-2L	SBR Latex	4.4	0	97	97	0.9	Strong Pass
			3	<u>85</u> 3	85	1.7	Marginal Fail
CMS-2B	Butyl	4.4	0	100	90	0.9	Pass
	·		3	85	80	1.5	Marginal Fail
CMS-2BC	Block	4.5	0	100	85	3.0	Pass
	Copolymer		3	85	80	4.2	Pass
IFMS-2L	SBR Latex	4.6	0	97	97	1.3	Strong Pass
			3	97	97	0.2	Pass
IFMS-2B	Butyl	4.5	0	100	99	2.0	Marginal Pass
· · ·		l a cardinant es - 10 - 125 - 1265, er ser rementer en en a segur	3	95	95	3.1	Marginal Pass
HFMS-2BC	Block	4.5	0	100	95	1.7	Marginal Fail
	Copolymer	4.5	3	100	95	10.1	Marginal Fail

Table 14. Initial design mixtures, 6.4 percent emulsion, limestone aggregate.

¹The mix is said to "pass" if the aggregate is at least 90% coated with a bituminous film. ²Reported as percentage of residual asphalt in the sample. Drainage greater than 4.0% is not acceptable. ³Underscored values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion.

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				<u> </u>		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
Cutback Type	Polymer Type	Residual Asphalt (%)	Aggregate Moisture (%)	% Aggregate Coated after 5 min. Mixing ¹	% Aggregate Coated after Immersion Test ¹	Drainage ² (g)	Workability
MC-400	None	5.0	0 3	100 90	$\frac{75^3}{10}$	2.5 4.5	Strong Pass Marginal Pass
MC-400 with BA-2000	None	5.0	0 3	100 95	98 15	2.3 1.9	Pass Marginal Pass
MC-400L	SBR Latex	4.5	0 3	100 95	<u>65</u> 0	$\frac{5.6}{5.2}$	Strong Pass Marginal Pass
MC-400B	Butyl	4.5	0 3	100 90	$\frac{70}{15}$	$\frac{5.1}{6.0}$	Strong Pass Fail
MC-800BC	Block Copolymer	4.5 4.5	0 3	100 <u>30</u>	$\frac{30}{15}$ (100) ⁴	3.0 1.6	Pass Pass

47

Table 15. Initial design mixtures, 6.1 percent cutback, limestone aggregate.

¹The mix is said to "pass" if the aggregate is at least 90% coated with a bituminous film. ²Reported as percentage of residual asphalt in the sample. Drainage greater than 4.0% is not acceptable. ³Underscored values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion. ⁴100 percent after addition of antistripping additive. fairness, the cutbacks should not be mixed with wet aggregate, and the water resistance test results on the cutback mixes made with 3 percent aggregate moisture should not be used as a basis for rejecting the cutback binders.

The coating and water resistance tests were conducted with both dry aggregate and aggregate containing 3.0 percent moisture. Ideally, cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures should be made with dry aggregate, and the results with the dry aggregate were used for selecting the binders for the field trals. The moist aggregate was used to simulate the effect of aggregate that has not been properly dried, which may occur in practice.

Each of the emulsion and cutback mixes passed the coating test when dry aggregate was used. The wet aggregate slightly reduced the percentage of coated aggregate particles for both the emulsion mixes and the cutback mixes except for the block copolymer modified cutback, where there was a very large reduction in the coating after mixing.

For the emulsion mixtures the severity of the coating and immersion tests was approximately the same. For the cutback mixes, the water resistance test was consistently more severe than the coating test. Although the results for some of the emulsion-based binder systems showed less than 90 percent coating of particles, the data did not show any trends according to modifier type. The moisture tests with the modified cutbacks also showed some systems with less than 90 percent coating, but, except for the the MC-800BC cutback, the results were not unexpected since no antistripping additive was used. When a commercial additive was added to the MC-800BC emulsion, the water resistance test results increased from 30 percent to 100 percent. Therefore, all of the binder systems were considered promising with respect to resistance to moisture damage.

There are no accepted standards for judging the drainage test results. None of the emulsions were judged as having drained excessively except for the HFMS-2BC binder mixed with 3.0 percent moisture. The drainage data for the emulsion mixes show that the presence of moisture in the aggregate appears to increase binder drainage, although the increases were slight in all cases except for the HFMS-2BC binder (table 14). No explanation can be given for this trend; however, it should be pointed out to field personnel and may warrant closer control of aggregate moisture in the field.

11

The drainage experienced with the latex- and butyl-modified MC-400 was judged to be marginal. The drainage for the unmodified MC-400 was 2.5 percent, whereas the drainage for the latex- and butyl-modified MC-400 was 5.6 percent and 5.1 percent, respectively (table 15). For this reason, MC-800 was chosen for use with the modifiers. The block copolymer was therefore added to MC-800; the drainage for this system was 3.0 percent versus 5.6 percent and 5.1 percent, respectively, for the latex- and butyl-modified binders (table 15). In the later testing, the MC-400L and MC-400B were replaced by MC-800L and MC-800B.

The workability of all the mixes was acceptable when the mixing moisture was 0.0 percent. The reduced workability that was obtained when 3.0 percent water was added to the aggregate was due to the freezing of the water. The workability tests on the mixes that were made with the wet aggregate illustrate the problem that may occur if there is excessive moisture in the mix.

The initial screening tests of the candidate binders were extended to the glacial sand and gravel and traprock mixes; the results for these mixes are shown in tables 16 and 17, respectively. As was expected, poor moisture resistance was evident with the glacial sand and gravel. Stripping was particularly evident with the latex-modified binders. The butyl modification improved the resistance to stripping in several cases. Antistripping additives would be necessary for mixes made with the silicious aggregates. The selection of the appropriate additive depends upon the job-mix aggregate. Antistripping additives were not used, however, because the silicious aggregate mixtures were not used in the field studies. Stripping resistance was generally good for the traprock mixes.

The drainage that occurred with the gravel mixes was much greater than with the limestone or traprock mixtures. No consistent pattern is demonstrated in the drainage results by aggregate type or binder type. The absorptivity for the gravel was the largest (1.93 percent) followed by 1.25 and 0.49 percent for the traprock and limestone, respectively. The largest

Binder Type	Polymer Type	Residual Asphalt (%)	Aggregate Moisture (%)	% Aggregate Coated after 5 min. Mixing	% Aggregate Coated after Strip Test ¹	Drainage ² (%)	Workability
CMS-2L	SBR Latex	4.4	0 3	100 100	100 100	2.8	Marginal Pass Marginal Pass
CMS-2B	Butyl	4.4	0 3	100 100	100 90	2.6 19.4	<u>Marginal Fail³</u> Marginal Fail
CMS-2BC	Block Copolymer	4.5	0 3	100 95	<u>85</u> 95	3.1 10.1	Pass Pass
HFMS-2L	SBR Latex	4.6	0 3	70 <u>30</u>	$\frac{15}{10}$	6.6 1.5	<u>Marginal Fail</u> Fail
HFMS-2B	Butyl	4.5	03	100 100	$\frac{40}{40}$	5.7	Pass
IFMS-2BC	Block Copolymer	4.5	0 3	100 <u>25</u>	<u>30</u> 25	7.1 9.8	<u>Marginal Fail</u> <u>Fail</u>
1C-400L	Latex	4.7	0 3	100 <u>60</u>	5	4 	
1C-400B	Butyl	4.7	0 3	100 95	10 <u>5</u>	1.7	Pass Marginal Fail
1C-800BC	Block Copolymer	4.5	0 3	100 <u>50</u>	25 <u>5</u>	5.9 1.8	Pass Pass

Table 16. Initial design mixtures, 6.4 percent emulsion, glacial sand and gravel aggregate.

¹The mix is said to "pass" if the aggregate is at least 90% coated with a bituminous film. ²Reported as percentage of residual asphalt in the sample. Drainage greater than 4.0% is not acceptable. ³Underscored values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion. ⁴Insufficient material to complete testing.

Binder Type	Polymer Type	Residual Asphalt (%)	Aggregate Moisture (%)	% Aggregate Coated after 5 min. Mixing	% Aggregate Coated after Strip Test ¹	Drainage ² (%)	Workability
CMS-2L	SBR Latex	4.4	0 3	$\frac{\underline{80}^{3}}{\underline{80}}$	<u>80</u> <u>80</u>	0.0 0.0	Marginal Pass Marginal Pass
CMS-2B	Butyl	4.4	0 3	100 100	95 95	0.0 0.0	Pass Pass
HFMS-2L	SBR Latex	4.6	0 3	90 95	90 90	0.0 0.0	Pass Marginal Pass
HFMS-2B	Butyl	4.5	0 3	95 95	95 90	0.0	Pass Pass
MC-400L	Latex	4.7		90 100	95 95	4	Pass Pass
MC-400B	Butyl	4.7	03	90 100	90 90	0.0	Pass Pass

51

Table 17. Initial design mixtures, 6.4 percent emulsion, traprock aggregate.

¹The mix is said to "pass" if the aggregate is at least 90% coated with a bituminous film. ²Reported as percentage of residual asphalt in the sample. Drainage greater than 4.0% is not acceptable. ³Underscored values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion. ⁴Insufficient material to complete testing. amount of drainage occurred with the gravel mixtures and the least amount with the traprock mixes. The same binder content and gradation was used for each mix. Optimizing the binder content through a mix design, as outlined in the next chapter, might have reduced the drainage with the gravel mixes to an acceptable level.

In general, the workability for the glacial sand and gravel mixes was not as good as for the dolomite mixes (tables 14 through 16). This difference may be explained in part by differences in the shape and surface texture of the aggregates. Overall, the test results for the traprock aggregate were very favorable (table 17). Each of the mixes passed the workability test, showed very little drainage, and was well coated after mixing and after the stripping test. Except for the drainage that occurred with the gravel mixes, the test results indicated that further study of each of the binders was warranted.

COST OF MIXES MADE WITH MODIFIED BINDERS

None of the modified binders or the mixes made with the modified binders require any special handling. The increased cost of producing and placing these binders is primarily due to the cost of adding the modifier or the fibers. A summary of the costs for the various systems is shown in table 18. These costs are based upon the present cost of an MC-800-based PennDOT 485 mix. This locally produced mix is made in a hot-mix asphalt plant using dry aggregates that conform to the gradation specifications given in tables 5 through 7. As shown in table 18, the cost of the high-float emulsion is approximately the same as that of the MC-800 cutback. A surcharge of approximately \$10 per ton (\$11 per Mg) is required for the latex-modified binder, and approximately \$12 per ton (\$13 per Mg) for the butyl-modified binder. When fibers are added to the mix, the surcharge is approximately \$5 per ton (\$5.50 per Mg). A full discussion of the effect of material costs on the life-cycle cost of pothole repairs is given in chapter 8.

Unmodified Binder Modification	Surcharge/Gal ¹ (\$)	Cost/Ton for Mix (\$) ²
MC-800 None	None	30 (PennDOT 485)
MC-800 Fibers	None	35 (PennDOT 486) ³
MC-800 Latex	0.78	40.22
HFMS-2 None	0.03	30.39
HFMS-2 Butyl	0.86	41.66
HFMS-2 Butyl + fibers	0.86	46.66
HFMS-2 Latex	0.78	40.61

Table 18. Estimated cost of mixes made with modified binders.

¹Due to addition of polymer. ²Based on 5.5% (residue) of binder by weight of mix. ³PennDOT 486 includes 5 lb of fibers/ton (2.5 kg/Mg) of mix. 1 ton = .9 Mg; 1 gal = $4.4 \times 10^{-3} \text{ m}^3$

5. DETAILED LABORATORY EVALUATION OF CANDIDATE MIXES

The nine binders listed earlier in table 11 were chosen as the candidate binders and were tested as described in chapter 4. After further review of current processing technology, it was decided to drop the block-copolymer modifier because specialized equipment was required at that time for its manufacture. Because the SBR latex-modified cutback, MC-400B, showed excessive drainage, an MC-800B system was added to the list of binders. The modified list of candidate binders is given in table 19.

Because fibers had been identified in the literature survey as a promising addition to cold, wet-weather, patching mixtures they were used with the high-float, medium-set emulsion modified with butyl rubber. On the basis of the test results and its overall handling characteristics, this binder was considered the most promising of the various candidate binders and, therefore, was selected for use with the fibers. It was judged that, by combining the most promising binder with the fibers, an optimal binder system would be produced.

The testing of the candidate binders proceeded in two phases. In the first phase, mix design, testing was conducted for drainage, water sensitivity, and workability. The final list of binders for the field trials was selected on the basis of these three criteria. These binders were then subjected to the second phase of testing which included stability under load, freeze-thaw, and tacking.

MIXTURE-DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS

There are no accepted design procedures for cold-mix, stockpiled patch mixtures. Although PennDOT has a specification for cutback and emulsified cold-mix, stockpiled mixtures, the specification does not include a specific design procedure for selecting the optimum binder content. Instead, a recommended binder content is given in the specification with provisions for an increase in the binder content according to the moisture absorption of the aggregate. Therefore, the research team was faced with a dilemma in the selection of the binder content for the field mixtures that incorporated the

System	Modifier	Residue	Field Trials
	None	81 5	No
MC-400T.	SBR Latex	73.6	No
MC-400B	Butyl Rubber	73.8	No
MC-800	None	85.0	Yes
MC-800L	SBR Latex	78.0	Yes
CMS-2	None	69.4	No
CMS-2L	SBR Latex	68.8	No
CMS-2B	Butyl Rubber	68.8	No
HFMS-2	None	69.5	Yes
HFMS-2L	SBR Latex	72.0	Yes
HFMS-2B	Butyl Rubber	70.0	Yes
			and the second

Table 19. Modified list of candidate binders used in detailed laboratory study.

. U.,

modified binders. Consequently, the researchers adopted their own design procedure that consisted of a water-sensitivity test, a test for drainage, and a workability test. The laboratory mix-design work was done with the job-mix gradation used to produce the field mixtures (table 13). The mixture design consisted of preparing a series of mixtures with three different binder contents. Each of the mixtures was then subjected to the drainage, workability, and moisture-sensitivity tests. The optimum binder content was based on the results of these tests.

Materials

The aggregates used in this phase of the study came from the same batches of aggregate used in the preliminary testing (table 12). Mixes were prepared with the three aggregates and the eleven binder materials shown in table 19. The same base asphalt was used in all the binders, and the binders reported in this chapter were from the same batches of material reported in chapter 4.

Preparation of Mix

In order to select the optimum asphalt content for the mixes, one aggregate type (limestone) and three levels of binder content were studied: 5.0 percent, 5.5 percent, and 6.0 percent (residue) by weight of the total mix. When fibers were used in the mix, the asphalt content was increased by 0.2 percent following the recommendation of the fiber producer. A 0.2 percent increase in binder content is typically used by PennDOT and other agencies when fibers are added to cold-mix, stockpiled patch mixtures.^[14]

The aggregate was first dried in the oven at 230 °F (110 °C) to remove moisture. After cooling, it was sieved into four fractions: passing the 3/8-in (9.5 mm) sieve and retained on No. 4 sieve, passing the No. 4 sieve and retained on the No. 8 sieve, passing the No. 8 sieve and retained on the No. 200 sieve, and passing the No. 200 sieve. The different sizes were recombined during mixing according to the job-mix formula (table 13).

When an emulsion was used in a mix, both the emulsion and the aggregate were preheated to a mixing temperature of approximately 145 $^{\circ}$ F (63 $^{\circ}$ C).

Cutbacks were heated (in a separate oven) to approximately 170 °F (77 °C) prior to mixing with the aggregate, which was preheated to 145 °F (63 °C). These temperatures were selected in accordance with the PennDOT 485 specification (table 7).

The aggregate and the emulsion or cutback were mixed in a Hobart mixer Model A200 equipped with a 20-quart (18 L) mixing bowl and wire whip. In order to have sufficient mix for the tests, approximately 3500 g of mix was prepared at a time. PennDOT's standard procedures for evaluating the workability and water resistance of bituminous cold mixes were adopted.

The workability of each mix was evaluated at room temperature and at 20 °F (-7 °C), 30 °F (-1°C), and 40 °F (4 °C), rather than only at 20 °F (-7 °C) as specified in the test procedure. The last three temperatures were attained by storing the mix in a controlled-environment chamber prior to and during testing. Otherwise the details of the test were the same as for the initial screening tests.

The drainage test used in this phase of the study was the same as that used in the intial screening except that a 1000-g sample was used for all of the testing. The PennDOT water resistance test was used to evaluate moisture sensitivity. The test was conducted in accordance with the PennDOT specification, ^[13] following the same procedure used by the subcontractor.

RESULTS OF MIX-DESIGN TESTING

Workability

The results of the workability tests are summarized in table 20. It was expected that for a given gradation and temperature, the workability would improve with an increase in bitumen content. In general, this was found to be true. However, in the case of the latex- and butyl-modified emulsions, HFMS-2B and HFMS-2L, the workability of the mix seemed to decrease with increased binder content. Mixes made with MC-800 failed to pass the PennDOT workability test at all three levels of bitumen contents when evaluated at the two lower temperatures. For this reason, sections 485 and 486 of the PennDOT

specifications do not permit the use of MC-800 in stockpiled mixes intended for use between November 1 and March 1. The addition of the butyl and SBR latex modifiers to the cutbacks improved the workability at 20 °F (-7 °C), 30 °F (-1 °C), and 40 °F (4 °C) so that the modified MC-400 (MC-400B) cutbacks yielded a strong pass at all temperatures and binder contents.

The addition of the SBR latex to the CMS-2 emulsion (CMS-2L) offered improvements in workability at 20 °F (-7 °C), 30 °F (-1 °C), and 40 °F (4 °C) but actually decreased the workability of the HFMS-2 emulsion at 20 °F (-7 °C) and 30 °F (-1 °C). When the butyl rubber was added to the CMS-2 emulsion, there was a loss of workability at 20 °F (-7 °C) and 40 °F (4 °C) with 6.5 percent binder. Some loss in workability was also noted with the HFMS-2 emulsion when the butyl rubber was added. However, the HFMS-2 mixes tended to be very workable before modification, allowing the modified high-float emulsion mixes to be significantly more workable on the whole than the modified CMS-2 mixes. From the results shown in table 20, the amount of binder in the mix clearly has a large effect on workability and is an important design variable.

Drainage

The drainage test results for the limestone mixes are shown in table 21. Except for two anomalies, MC-400 at 4.5 and 5.5 percent binder and MC-800 at 5.5 and 6.5 percent binder, the drainage increased with increasing binder content. In the drainage test, a small amount of binder is transferred to the test pan at the aggregate contact points. This amount is approximately 1 to 2 percent of the binder, and thus at the smaller binder contents some apparent drainage (approximately 1 to 2 percent) is reported. As the binder content is increased, the amount of reported drainage increases, and obvious drainage of binder occurs when the residue on the test pan is above 4 to 5 percent of the total binder in the mix. Based on visual observations, an upper limit of 4 percent was selected as the maximum allowable drainage.

Based upon an upper allowable limit of 4 percent, except for the MC-800 and the MC-400L at 4.5 percent residual binder, none of the cutback mixes passed the drainage test. Addition of the latex and the butyl polymer to the

Binde	r in Mix	Workability at Temperature (°F)			
Туре	% (by residue)	20	30	40	Ambient
MC-400	4.5	F ¹ ,2	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		SP
	5.5	P			SP
	6.5	SP	SP	SP	SP
мс-400в	4.5	SP	SP	SP	SP
	5.5	SP	SP	SP	SP
	6.5	SP	SP	SP	SP
MC-400L	4.5	SP	SP	SP	SP
	5.5	SP	SP	SP	SP
	6.5	SP	SP	SP	SP
MC-800	4.5	F	F	F	SP
	5.5	F	Ē	P	SP
	6.5	F	Ē	SP	SP .
CMS-2	4.5	F	F	Р	SP
	5.5	F	F	Р	SP
	6.5	P	P	SP	SP
CMS-2L	4.5	F	Р	SP	SP
	5.5	P	SP	SP	SP
	6.5	Р	SP	SP	SP
CMS-2B	4.5	F	F	P	SP
	5.5	F	F	Р	SP
	6.5	F	P	Ρ	SP
HFMS-2	4.5	F	SP	SP	SP
	5.5	Р	SP	SP	SP
	6.5	Р	SP	SP	SP
HFMS-21.	4.5	Р	P	SP	SP
	5.5	F	F	SP	SP
	6.5	F	Ē	SP	SP
HFMS-2B	4.5	P	SP	SP	SP
	5.5	F	P	SP	SP
	6.5	F	P	SP	SP
		. .	• 		

Table 20. Results of PennDOT workability test for limestone mixes.

 l_P = pass, SP = strong pass, F = fail. 2Underscored values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion. °F = 9/5 (°C) + 32.

Binde	r in Mix	
Туре	% (by residue)	Drainage (%)
MC-400	4.5 5.5 6.5	$\frac{\frac{10.9^{1}}{7.4}}{\frac{7.4}{10.4}}$
MC-400B	4.5 5.5 6.5	$\frac{\underline{12.4}}{\underline{16.7}}$
MC-400L	4.5 5.5 6.5	1.8 $\frac{11.4}{22.0}$
MC-800	4.5 5.5 6.5	3.4 15.3 13.4
MC-800L	5.5	<u>9.4</u>
CMS-2	4.5 5.5 6.5	1.2 2.5 3.3
CMS-2L	4.5 5.5 6.5	2.5 <u>4.7</u> <u>7.8</u>
CMS-2B	4.5 5.5 6.5	1.6 3.5 4.7
HFMS-2	4.5 5.5 6.5	1.9 1.9 3.6
HFMS-2L	4.5 5.5 6.5	2.2 3.7 <u>9.8</u>
HFMS-2B	4.5 5.5 6.5	1.4 2.2 4.9

Table 21. Results of drainage test for limestone mixes.

 $^{1}\mbox{Underscored}$ values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion.

MC-400 cutback increased the drainage in all cases. Drainage increased slightly when the latex and butyl polymer were added to the CMS and HFMS emulsions, but the increase was very slight. The tendency of the latexmodified binders to drain more readily is confirmed by comparing the drainage of the latex-modified mixtures at 6.5 percent binder with the unmodified binders.

Water Resistance

The binders used in the study were formulated for use with the limestone aggregate. The results of the testing are shown in table 22. In general, there was no tendency toward stripping except for the CMS-2 and CMS-2B binders. Ultimately these binders were not used, and, therefore, no attempt was made to correct the stripping observed with these binders.

Some stripping was noticed with the MC-400B but not with the control MC-400. The latex modified cutback, MC-400L, also showed some stripping at the smaller binder content, 4.5 percent; but stripping resistance improved with increased binder contents, 5.5 and 6.5 percent respectively. The MC-400B was judged unsatisfactory from a drainage standpoint and was reformulated as MC-800B. The stiffer MC-800B passed the stripping test.

Fiber-Modified Mixes

Fiber-reinforced mixes made with limestone aggregate and three binders--MC-400F, CMS-2BF, and HFMS-2BF--were subjected to the three laboratory tests discussed earlier. The results are summarized in tables 23 through 25. It should be noted that the bitumen content of these mixes was increased by 0.2 percent in order to account for the addition of the fibers.

The workability of all the fiber-reinforced mixes studied was found to be acceptable (table 23), and the addition of the fibers provided dramatic improvement in workability for the MC-400 and CMS-2B mixes. The reason for the improvement is not apparent, but it cannot be attributed to the slight increase in binder content that was used with the fiber-modified mixes.

Binder	in Mix		Bitumen Coating on Aggregate (%)	
Туре	% (by residue)			
MC-400	4.5		>90	
	5.5		>90	
	6.5		>90	
MC-400L	4.5		<901	
	5.5		90	
	6.5		>90	
MC-400B	4.5		<90	
	5.5		<90	
	6.5		<90	
MC-800	4.5		>90	
	5.5		>90	
	6.5		>90	
CMS-2	4.5		<u><90</u>	
	5.5		<u><90</u>	
	6.5		<u><90</u>	
CMS-2L	4.5		>90	
	5.5		90	
	6.5		>90	
CMS-2B	4.5		<90	
	5.5		<u><90</u>	
	6.5		<u><90</u>	
HFMS-2	4.5		>90	
	5.5		>90	
	6.5		>90	
HFMS-2L	4.5		>90	
	5.5		>90	
	6.5		>90	
HFMS-2B	4.5		>90	
	5.5		>90	
	6.5		>90	

Table 22. Results of water-resistance test for limestone mixes.

¹Underscored values indcate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion.
Binder in 1	Fiber-reinforced Mix	Wo	rkability a	t Temperat	ure (°F) ¹
Туре	% (by residue)	20	30	40	Ambient
MC-400	4.5	F2		· · · ·	SP
	5.5	P			SP
	6.5	SP	SP	SP	SP
MC-400F	4.7	SP	SP	SP	SP
	5.7	SP	SP	SP	SP
	6.7	SP	SP	SP	SP
CMS-2B	4.5	F	F	Р	SP
	5.5	F	F	Р	SP
	6.5	Ē	F	Ρ	SP
CMS-2BF	4.7	SP	SP	SP	SP
and the second	5.7	P	SP	SP	SP
s Norman Norman	6.7	Р	SP	SP	SP
HFMS-2	5.5	Р	SP	SP	SP
HFMS-2BF	5.7	P	SP	SP	SP

Table 23. Results of PennDOT workability test for fiber-reinforced mixes.

 l_P = pass, SP = strong pass, F = fail. 2Underscored values indicate that the mix di not pass the acceptability criterion. °F = 9/5 (°C) + 32.

Bind	er in Mix	
Туре	% (by residue)	Drainage (%)
MC-400	4.5	10.9^{1}
	5.5	7.4
	6.5	10.4
MC-400F	4.7	4.0
	5.7	5.2
	6.7	6.5
CMS-2B	4.5	1.2
	5.5	2.5
	6.5	3.3
CMS-2BF	4.7	1.9
	5.7	3.3
	6.7	5.2
HFMS-2B	5.5	2.2
HFMS-2BF	5.7	2.4

Table 24. Results of drainage test for fiber-reinforced mixes.

 $^{\mbox{l}}$ Underscored values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion.

Binder i	Bi	Bitumen Coating				
Туре	% (by resid	(by residue)			on Aggregate (%)	
MC-400	4.5				>90	
	5.5 6.5				>90 >90	
MC-400F	4.7				>90	
	5.7				>90	
	6.7				>90	
CMS-2B	4.5				<u><90</u> 1	
	5.5				<90	
	6.5				<u><90</u>	
CMS-2BF	4.7				<u><90</u>	
	5.7				90	
	6.7				90	
HFMS-2B	5.5				>90	
HFMS-2BF	5.7				>90	

Table 25. Results of water-resistance test for fiberreinforced mixes.

11

 $^{\mbox{l}}\mbox{Underscored}$ values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion.

The addition of the fibers reduced the drainage for the MC-400 mix but had little effect on the CMS-2B and the HFMS-2B mixes (table 24). A slight increase in drainage was noted for the two emulsion mixes when the fibers were added. The increase was approximately equal to the added binder (0.2 percent) in the fiber-modified mixes.

The water resistance of the fiber-modified MC-400 and HFMS-2B mixes was the same as that of the mixes made with the unmodified binder (table 25). Some improvement in water resistance was noted with the CMS-2B, but the improvements were not large and are not, in themselves, a sufficient basis for selecting a binder. More significantly, the addition of the fibers did not deleteriously affect the water resistance of the mixtures.

Selection of Design Mixtures

During the course of the laboratory evaluation of the mixes, and based on a periodic review of results as they became available, it was decided to select 5.5 percent (by residue) as the binder content for further evaluation of laboratory mixes and for field trials of candidate binders. This decision was based upon the desirability of maximizing the quantity of binder in the mix without causing excessive drainage. A binder content of 5.5 percent appeared to be appropriate for all of the binders. The test proceedures were not sufficiently sensitive to indicate different percentages for different binder types.

Five experimental binders were required for the field trials. The high-float emulsion offered the best workability of all the systems, and, therefore, both the butyl-modified HFMS-2 emulsion and an SBR latex-modified HFMS emulsion were chosen for the field trials. An unmodified HFMS emulsion was also included as a control. The fibers were added to the butyl-modified HFMS emulsion since the butyl-modified HFMS was the most promising of the modified binders. Because cutbacks are still widely used for cold, wetweather, stockpiled patching materials, it was decided that at least one modified cutback system should be included in the field trials. A latex-modified MC-800 was chosen for this purpose on the basis of its workability and drainage characteristics. In order to provide a basis of

comparison, a locally produced PennDOT 485 mix was included in the field trials. This mix was made with MC-800, yielding the six binder systems used in the field trials (table 26). Test data for the binders used in the field trials are given in table 27. The gradation of the aggregate used in the field trials was given in table 13.

Tests on Traprock and Gravel Mixes

The three preliminary screening tests--drainage, stripping, and workability--were also conducted on laboratory mixes prepared with traprock and gravel aggregate. These aggregates were not used in the field trials and therefore were not included in the binder selection or mixture design considerations, and, therefore, only one binder content level (5.5 percent) was evaluated. In the case of the fiber-reinforced mixes, the binder content was increased by 0.2 percent. The results of these tests are given in tables 28 and 29. The results point out the need to tailor the binder and the binder content to each aggregate type. From the drainage and workability results, it can be concluded that both the gravel and the traprock require additional binder. Absorption of solvent in the gravel mixes also caused lowered workability in those mixes. The improvement in workability afforded by the fibers was evident for both the traprock and the gravel mixes.

ADDITIONAL TESTING ON MIXES SELECTED FOR FIELD TRIALS

Workability, drainage of the binder, and water resistance are the key factors that affect mix design. Similarly, the mix should be able to resist freeze-thaw deterioration during service and after compaction the mix should be stable and not susceptible to pushing, shoving, or dishing. Finally, the mix should be self-tacking so as to adhere to the bottom and sides of the hole. In the light of these requirements, the candidate mixes were further evaluated for stability, self-tacking, and freeze-thaw resistance. In addition, a more objective mix workability test (referred to as the PTI Workability Test) developed by the research team was conducted on the selected mixes. The equipment and procedure for each of these tests are briefly described here.

Designation	Emulsion or Cutback Type	Modification	Residual Binder Content (%) ¹	Gal of Liquid Binder Per Ton of Mix
HFMS-2	HFMS-2	None	5.5	13.1
HFMS-2L	HFMS-2	SBR Latex	5.5	13.1
HFMS-2B	HFMS-2	Butyl	5.5	13.1
HFMS-2BF	HFMS-2	Butyl + Fibers ²	5.7	13.6
MC-800	MC-800	None	5.5	13.1
MC-800L	MC-800	SBR Latex	5.5 ³	13.13

Table 26. Binders selected for field evaluation.

 $^{1}\mathrm{Based}$ on weight of total mix.

 $^2 \rm Fiber$ added at rate of 5 lb/ton (2.5 kg/1000 kg) of mix or 0.25% by weight of total mix.

 3Based on mixing performance this was later reduced to 5.2% and 12.4 gal/ton.

Test	HFMS-2 Control	HFMS-2L Latex	HFMS-2B Butyl	MC-800L Latex
Viscosity at 120 °F, (D 88) SFS	749	>800	313	1241 ¹
Residue by Dist. (D 244), wt. %	72.9	75.3	72.7	78.8
Oil in Dist. (D 244), Volume %	4.0	4.0	3.25	21.3
Float at 140 °F (D 139), s	>3600	>3600	>3600	
R & B Softening Point (D 36), °F	134	124	133	
Penetration (D 5), $mm/10$	>230	201	>230	119
Absolute viscosity (D 2171), 140 °F, P	1358	1684	1552	1286
Ductility at 39 °F, 5 cm/min, cm	118.0	>150	54.0	24.5

Table 27. Test data on binders for field mix.

li

¹Kinematic viscosity, D 2161, 140 °F, P °F = 9/5 (°C) + 32; 1 P = 0.1 Pa $^{\circ}$ s.

Binder in Mix		Workabi	lity a	t Tempe	rataure (°F)	Bitumen	
Туре	% by residue	···· 20	30	40	Ambient	Coating on Aggregate (%)	Drainage (%)
MC-400	5.5	F1	F	P	SP	90	1.97
MC-400L	5.5	SP	SP	SP	SP	<90	2.44
MC-400B	5.5	<u>F</u>	P	Р	SP	90	0.52
MC-800	5.5	F	F	F	SP	<90	0.75
MC-800L	5.5	P	P	Р	SP	< <u>90</u>	4.13
CMS-2	5.5	SP	SP	SP	SP	<90	7.77
CMS-2L	5.5	F	F	Р	SP	<90	1.63
CMS-2B	5.5	Ē	F	Р	SP	>90	0.75
HFMS-2	5.5	Р	Р	SP	SP	<90	0.33
HFMS-2L	5.5	F	F	Р	SP	<90	0.32
HFMS-2B	5.5	F	F	Р	SP	< 90	0.53
HFMS-2BF	5.7	F	F	Р	SP	< <u>90</u>	0.17

Table 28. Laboratory test results for traprock mixtures.

 l_P = pass, SP = strong pass, F = fail; Underscored values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion. °F = 9/5 (°C) + 32.

Binder in Mix		Workabi	lity a	t Temper	ataure (°F)	Bitumen	
Туре	% by residue	20	30	40	Ambient	Coatings on Aggregate (%)	Drainage (%)
MC-400L MC-400B	5.5 5.5	SP ¹ P	SP P	SP P	SP SP	$\frac{<90^2}{90}$	$\frac{9.50}{0.97}$
MC-800 MC-800L	5.5 5.5	F P	SP F	P SP	SP SP	< <u>90</u> < <u>90</u>	4.00 <u>7.42</u>
CMS-2 CMS-2L CMS-2B	5.5 5.5 5.5	SP <u>F</u> <u>F</u>	SP <u>F</u>	SP P P	SP SP SP	< <u>90</u> 90 90	$\frac{13.14}{1.23}\\1.77$
HFMS-2 HFMS-2L HFMS-2B HFMS-2BF	5.5 5.5 5.5 5.7	F F P	FFF	F F SP	SP SP SP SP	< <u>90</u> < <u>90</u> < <u>90</u> < <u>90</u>	1.50 1.30 1.13 1.18

Table 29. Laboratory test results for gravel mixtures.

 1 P = pass, SP = strong pass, F = fail. 2 Underscored values indicate that the mix did not pass the acceptability criterion.

The PTI Workability Test

The workability test developed by PennDOT results in a subjective evaluation of the workability of the mix. This subjective evaluation is undesirable from the standpoint of test repeatability and, in particular, the between-laboratory repeatability of the test procedure. Therefore, the research team sought a quantitative measure of workability that could be readily performed in the field with minimal expense. The test needed to be simple to perform; require low-cost, readily available equipment; reliably measure mix workability; and provide a rapid return of the test results.

After considerable review of various testing techniques, a simple penetration test was chosen. The apparatus is shown in figure 2 and consisted of a model CL-70 Soiltest pocket penetrometer that is usually used for testing cohesive soils and a steel box with holes on each side. The penetrometer was modified by attaching a 3/8-in by 3-in (9.5 mm by 75 mm) extension to the penetrometer foot. Material was placed loosely, by dumping it from a scoop, into the 4-in by 4-in by 4-in (102 mm by 102 mm by 102 mm) steel box. The workability was measured by pushing the penetrometer foot through one of the holes in the box and then into the mix until a peak load was obtained. The peak load required to penetrate the mix was recorded as a measure of workability. The penetrometer is used to determine the bearing capacity of fine-grained soils and is calibrated in units of tons/ft² (Pa). These units were disregarded in reporting the test results.

Table 30 summarizes the results of the PTI Workability Test conducted on the candidate mixes. A comparison of these test results with results obtained from the PennDOT Workability Test (table 22) is shown in figure 3. A reasonable correlation between the two test procedures is shown. Based on the figure, a penetration number greater than 4 would indicate a mix with unacceptable workability, whereas penetration numbers of 3 or less would ensure good workability.

This workability test warrants further consideration as a quick, simple, low-cost test that can be used in the field to judge the workability of cold, wet-weather, stockpiled patching mixtures. Before the test can be adopted, it



Figure 2. Pocket pentrometer used for workability test.



Figure 3. Rating from the PennDOT Workability Test versus penetration number.

	Penetration Resistance (tons/ft ²) at Temperature (°F)				
Binder in Mix	20	30	40	Ambient	
HFMS-2	>4.5	2.75	1.5	0.25	
HFMS-2L	>4.5	4.25	2.5	0.25	
HFMS-2B	>4.5	3.5	1.5	0.25	
HFMS-2BF	>4.5	3.25	1.5	0.25	
MC-800L	2.5	2.5	2.5	0.25	
MC-800	>4.5	>4.5	3.25	0.25	

Table 30. Results of PTI workability test for candidate mixes.

 $1 \text{ ton/ft}^2 = 96 \text{ kPa}; ^{\circ}F = 9/5 (^{\circ}C) + 32.$

must be calibrated by comparing test results with ratings of workability during mix placement. Additional testing is required to validate the relationship in figure 3 and to extend the relationship to aggregates other than the limestone used for the study.

The Freeze-Thaw Test

Freeze-thaw resistance was measured by compacting the experimental mixes into a cylindrical steel mold and then exposing the compacted mix to alternating cycles of freezing and thawing. The change in thickness of the specimens after repeated freezing and thawing was measured. The uncured mix prepared in the laboratory was compacted in a 6.25-in-diameter (159 mm), 4-in-deep (102 mm) steel mold equipped with a 12-in (305 mm) by 12-in (305 mm) by 1/2-in-thick (12.7 mm) steel base plate. The mix was compacted in three (approximately equal) lifts with a hand-held, electric vibratory hammer (Milwaukee Model No. 5361) with a 4-in-diameter (102 mm) tamping foot. Each lift was compacted at room temperature (approximately 70 °F (20 °C)) for 1 minute with the weight of the hammer as the only surcharge. The surface of the first and second lift was scarified before the next lift was placed and compacted. The overall depth of the compacted specimen was 2.5 to 3 in (64 to 76 mm). The compacted mix in the mold was then subjected to a 15,000-1b (6.8 Mg) static load to level the surface. After the load was applied, water was poured into the mold to form a thin layer, approximately 1/8 in (3 mm), on top of the specimen. A vacuum (28 mm Hg) was then applied to the specimen for 30 minutes until it was saturated.

A steel ruler was placed diametrically across the top of the mold, and the distance from the top of the specimen to the top of the mold was measured with another steel ruler marked with 0.02-in (0.508 mm) divisions. Three such readings were obtained and the average was computed. The points where the readings were taken were marked with paint so that future readings could be taken at the same points. Next, the mold with the specimen was placed in a chest-type food freezer and subjected to a below-freezing temperature at -20 °F (-29 °C) for 24 hours. Then the frozen specimen was allowed to thaw at room temperature. The depth to the top of the specimen was measured as before, and the average of three readings was determined. This procedure was

repeated after 2, 4, and 8 or 16 days of freeze-thaw cycling. From these data the change in thickness of the specimens was determined. The results are summarized in table 31.

The purpose of the freeze-thaw test was twofold: to determine if the freezing of water in the voids would cause disintegration in the mix through the splitting of the bond between aggregate and binder and to determine if the specimen would expand under the pressure of the freezing water at the bottom of the specimen. No raveling or disintegration was observed on the surface, and the specimens did not separate from the base of the mold.

For the most part, the tests were inconclusive. Freeze-thaw failure due to the mechanism represented by this test has not been reported as a problem in the field and was not observed in the laboratory. No criteria for pass-fail were established, and further development of the test is probably not warranted. The increase in thickness that occurred with the MC-800L sample was somewhat greater than the increase that occurred with the other mixes, but nothing indicated that it was any cause for concern.

Test for Stability Under Traffic

There is no standard test that can be used to estimate the stability of cold, wet-weather, stockpiled mixes. In this context, stability is defined as the resistance to plastic deformation due to traffic loading. In order to simulate the repeated action of traffic, a repeated load was applied, with a steel foot, to the center of a 6-in-diameter (150 mm) sample. The objective of the test was to determine whether the mix would shove or push under the repeated loading.

For this test, compacted specimens were made in the same manner as for the freeze-thaw test except that before the mix was compacted, it was cured for 24 hours in an oven maintained at 140 °F \pm 5 °F (60 °C \pm 3 °C). The compacted specimen and the mold were placed on the platen of a model 810 Materials Testing System (MTS) testing machine. A 155-1b (70 kg) repeated haversine load was applied to the specimen through a 1-in-diameter (25 mm)

Binder in Mix	Duration of Cycles (days)	Height Measurement After Thawing (in)	Increase in I Thickness (in)
HFMS-2	Initial	1.69	
1	1	1.69	0.00
	2	1.69	0.00
· · · · ·	4	1.68	0.01
	8	1.67	0.02
	16	1.69	0.02
HFMS-2L	Initial	1.64	
	1	1.65	-0.01^{2}
	2	1.61	0.03
	4	1.63	0.01
	8	1.63	0.01
	16	1.63	0.01
HFMS-2B	Initial	1.55	
	1	1.50	0.05
	2	1.55	0.00
	4	1.54	0.01
	8	1.49	0.06
	16	1.50	0.05
HFMS-2BF	Initial	1.50	
	1	1.50	0.00
	2	1.47	0.03
	4	1.48	0.02
	8	1.48	0.02
MC-800L	Initial	1.14	
	1	1.05	0.09
	2	1.01	0.13
	4	1.00	0.14
	8	1.00	0.14

Table 31. Results of freeze-thaw test.

Į.

 $^{1}\mathrm{Average}$ of three observations. 1 in = 25.4 mm. $^{2}\mathrm{Negative}$ value indicates that specimen decreased in thickness.

steel loading foot (figure 4). The plastic, or nonrecoverable, deformation in the mix was measured after 100 and 1,000 load cycles (table 32). All of the tests were conducted at 72 °F (22 °C).

General trends in the data reflect previous observations regarding the consistency of the binders, especially as reflected in the drainage tests. The HFMS-2L, MC-800, and MC-800L binders showed the largest amount of plastic deformation, 0.0545 in (1.38 mm), 0.0525 in (1.33 mm), and 0.0625 in (1.59 mm) respectively. In no case was there any visible shoving from the repeated loadings. The deformation, even for the MC-800 mix, was quite small. No acceptance criteria were adopted by the research team for this test. The test does not duplicate the action of traffic and is time-consuming to conduct. Consequently, the research team does not believe that this test warrants further development.

Test for Self-Tacking

Considerable thought was given to a simple, reliable test procedure that could be used to evaluate the self-tacking characteristics of the different mixes. A simple procedure was adopted in which the mix is compacted on the top of a field core, and the force required to shear the mix from the core is measured. As part of the test program, the mix was compacted against both wet and dry cores. Cores 6 in (150 mm) in diameter were obtained from an asphalt concrete pavement.

To perform the test, a core was placed in the 6.25-in (159 mm) steel mold and seated in plaster of paris so that its top surface was flush with the top of the mold (figure 5). A 6.25-in-diameter (159 mm) by 1/2-in-thick (12.7 mm) split spacer was placed on the mold. The spacer was then topped with a 4-in-high (102 mm) collar (figure 5). The three pieces (mold, spacer, and collar) were then clamped together. A sample of the mix to be tested was placed in the collar and compacted using the same procedure used for the freeze-thaw testing. After compaction, the base of the assembly was clamped to an I-beam bolted to the lower platen of the MTS machine (figure 6). A steel-wire rope was looped around the collar approximately 3/4 in (19 mm) from the bottom of the collar, and the wire was attached to the loading head of the



Figure 4. Stability test mold and loading foot.

	Density	Deflect	Deflection at			
Binder in Mix	of Sample (1b/ft3)	100 Cycles (in)	1000 Cycles (in)			
HFMS-2	120.5	0.0350	0.0492			
HFMS-2L	118.6	0.0420	0.0545			
HFMS-2B	118.6	0.0275	0.0365			
HFMS-2BF	119.9	0.0255	0.0338			
MC-800L	122.2	0.0350	0.0525			
MC-800	117.9	0.0438	0.0625			

Table 32. Results of repeated-loading penetration test.

 $1 \ 1b/ft^3 = 16 \ kg/m^3; 1 \ in = 25.4 \ mma.$



ļŧ

Figure 5. Mounting of specimen in mold for self-tacking test.



Figure 6. Self-tacking apparatus attached to MTS machine.

test machine. This procedure resulted in a horizontal shearing force on the interface between the core and the compacted sample. The peak load at which the bond between the surfaces failed was recorded.

The test procedure was repeated with a second set of new cores, but the surface was wetted with distilled water before the patching mixture was placed and compacted in the mold. This set of tests (dry surface and wet surface) was conducted on each candidate mix and on the PennDOT 485 control mix containing MC-800. The results are shown in table 33.

The results of the tacking study were somewhat inconclusive. Although there were some differences in the results, no trends were obvious and, in the process of selecting candidate binders, the researchers did not place any reliance on the test results. Further development is needed to produce a reliable test to measure tacking.

	Load at Failure of Bond (1b)					
Binder in Mix	Core Surface, Dry	Core Surface, Wet				
HFMS-2	124.8 (<10%)1	27.2 (<1%)				
HFMS-2L	60.0 (<5%)	31.2 (<1%)				
HFMS-2B	134.0 (<5%)	38.0 (<1%)				
HFMS-2BF	116.0 (<1%)	28.8 (<1%)				
MC-800L	60.8 (<1%)	41.2 (<1%)				
MC-800	43.2 (<1%)	36.8 (<1%)				

Table 33. Results of self-tacking test.

1

¹Numbers in parentheses indicate approximate area of core surface on which binder was observed after the test. 1 1b = 0.45 kg.

6. PRODUCTION AND PLACEMENT OF MIXE\$ FOR FIELD TRIALS

PRODUCTION AND STORAGE

After the binders had been selected, the next step was to produce the quantity of binder that would be required for making the experimental mixes for the field trials. It was decided that approximately 60 patches would be placed and evaluated for each of the five experimental binders listed in table 26. Assuming an average volume of 3 ft^3 (0.085 m³) per patch, a compaction density of 120 $1b/ft^3$ (1.9 Mg/m³), and 15 percent wastage of mix during handling and stockpiling, it was estimated that 12 tons (11 Mg) of each mix would be required for the field trials.

Four 55-gal (0.21 m^3) drums each of HFMS-2, HFMS-2L, and MC-800L binder were manufactured in Springfield, MO, for study by the subcontractor. Since the HFMS-2B binder would be incorporated into two mixes, eight 55-gal (0.21 m^3) drums of this binder were produced. The binders were shipped to Pennsylvania in October 1985 and stored in a heated shed.

All five mixes were produced on the same day (November 14, 1985) in a conventional 100-ton (91 Mg) per hour McCarter batch plant. An Etnyre Model M3384 double-boiler, crack-sealer unit was used to heat, mix, and pump the binder into the weigh hopper. To prevent binder contamination, the tank of the unit was cleaned with kerosene before and after each binder was poured into it. The aggregate was double dried before it was conveyed to the weigh hopper. The fibers for the HFMS-2BF mix were separately weighed and dumped into the pugmill, where they were dry-mixed with the aggregate for 30 seconds before the binder was added. The mix data and the sequence in which the mixes were manufactured are summarized in table 34.

The temperature of the HFMS-2 mix at discharge from the pugmill was 75 $^{\circ}$ F (24 $^{\circ}$ C). A check of the hot-bin temperature revealed that the aggregate had cooled to 90 $^{\circ}$ F (32 $^{\circ}$ C). Although PennDOT specifications allow a temperature range of 40 to 140 $^{\circ}$ F (4 to 60 $^{\circ}$ C), the target mixing temperature was 120 $^{\circ}$ F (49 $^{\circ}$ C). The hot-bins were emptied, and freshly heated aggregate was used to produce the HFMS-2B and HFMS-2BF mixes. The coating and overall appearance of

Residual Binder Mix Content Type (%)	Temperatu	re (°F)			Total Quantity Manufactured (tons)
	Aggregate	Binder	Mix	No. of Batches	
5.2	140	175	140	3	10.54
5.5	90	110	75	3	8.02
5.5	140	140	112	2	7.39
5.5	150	115	140	3	8.55
5.7	150	120	160	3	9.38
	Residual Binder Content (%) 5.2 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.7	Residual Binder Content (%) Temperature Aggregate 5.2 140 5.5 90 5.5 140 5.5 150 5.7 150	Residual Binder Content (%) Temperature (°F) Aggregate Binder 5.2 140 175 5.5 90 110 5.5 140 140 5.5 140 140 5.5 150 115 5.7 150 120	Residual Binder Content (%) Temperature (°F) Aggregate Binder Mix 5.2 140 175 140 5.5 90 110 75 5.5 140 140 112 5.5 150 115 140 5.7 150 120 160	Residual Binder Content (%) Temperature (°F) No. of Batches 5.2 140 175 140 3 5.5 90 110 75 3 5.5 140 140 112 2 5.5 150 115 140 3 5.7 150 120 160 3

Table 34. Mix data, November 14, 1985.

Note: ${}^{\circ}F = 9/5$ (${}^{\circ}C$) + 32; 1 ton = 0.9 Mg.

the HFMS-2 and HFMS-2L mixes did not appear to be adversely affected by the reduced mix temperatures.

When the first batch of MC-800L was made, it appeared very fat and the binder was draining from the aggregate. The binder content was reduced to 5.2 percent, which greatly improved the appearance of the mix. All of the other mixes were acceptable in appearance, and no further corrections in binder content were made. A heavy rain prevailed throughout the day when the mixes were being made, and the stockpiling was done in the rain.

After mixing, the mixes were stockpiled on a bituminous-concrete pad on the premises of the batch plant. The depth of the stockpiles was less than 2 ft (0.6 m) to facilitate cooling and minimize drainage. In order to protect the freshly made mix from the rain, the stockpiles were covered with polyethylene sheets. Although considerable rain fell on the piles during the stockpiling operation, when the stockpiles were uncovered on the following day (November 15, 1985), no stripping or unacceptable drainage was observed.

On November 18, 1985 the experimental mixes were shipped to Ebensburg, PA, and stockpiled in the yard behind the office of PennDOT Maintenance District 9-3. The five stockpiles were then covered with tarps and cordoned off. It is standard PennDOT procedure to cover stockpiled patching material with tarps to prevent the infiltration of rain and snow, which adversely affects workability in freezing weather.

The research team intended to use the PennDOT 485 mix that would normally have been purchased by the local maintenance district (Cambria County). Instead, the maintenance district purchased PennDOT 486 fiber-reinforced, stockpiled mix made with gravel aggregate. This offered a sixth experimental mix, MC-800 modified with fibers.

The use of PennDOT 486 by the maintenance district left the research team without an appropriate control mix. Therefore, the research team purchased 45 tons (41 Mg) of PennDOT 485 patching material from the local contractor that produced the experimental mixes. This step ensured a control mix that contained the same aggregate as the experimental mixes. This material was

shipped and stockpiled near the experimental mixes in Ebensburg. Before shipment, samples of each experimental mix and the PennDOT 485 control mix were tested for workability, water resistance, and drainage. The results are given in table 35. In general, the test results for the plant mixes were similar to (or better than) the test results for the laboratory mixes. The only exception was the HFMS-2 plant mix, which failed the drainage test with 6.20 percent drainage. However, no drainage problems were subsequently observed with this mix. It should be noted that the binders used in the field were manufactured in a full-scale emulsion plant with a different base emulsion and a different cutback than were were used in the laboratory batches. Therefore, the differences in the test results were not unexpected.

H

FIELD PLACEMENT

Particular care was given to the monitoring of the field trials. The assignment of the control mix or an experimental mix to a given repair was done randomly, and the repair procedures were thoroughly documented.

Site Selection

In coordination with county maintenance personnel, roadways with high traffic levels (ADT) were selected to begin the field experiment. Another criterion for selection was that the roadways should not be candidates for overlay or mechanized patching for at least 2 years after the potholes were repaired. As noted below, however, many of the patches were unexpectedly overlaid in the fall of 1985 when the local PennDOT office decided to accelerate its overlay program. Both rigid base and flexible base pavements were included in the study. Because Cambria County was frequently affected by snowstorms during the late part of the winter, the maintenance crews were busy plowing the roads and spreading salt and antiskid material until the end of February. Consequently, it was not until March 4, 1986 that the first potholes were repaired. On the first day of field placement, the air temperature was 33 to 34 °F (approximately 1 °C) and the mix temperature was 34 °F (1 °C). Cambria County lies on the peak of the Appalachian ridge in western-central Pennsylvania. The weather in this area is considerably colder than in many other parts of Pennsylvania, with late-season snowstorms and

Binder	Workability at Temperature (°F) 1				Bitumen			
Туре	% (by residue)	20 30		40 Ambient		Coating on Aggregate (%)	Drainage (%)	
MC-800L	5.2	SP	SP	SP	SP	>90	3.7	
HFMS-2	5.5	P	P	SP	SP	>90	$\frac{6.2}{2}$	
HFMS-2L	5.5	F	Р	SP	SP		3.2	
HFMS-2B	5.5	<u>F</u>	Р	SP	SP	>90	3.4	
HFMS-2BF	5.7	Р	P	SP	SP	>90	1.7	
PennDOT 485 MC-800 Control	4.5	F	P	SP	SP	>90	3.1	

Table 35. Laboratory test results for plant mixes.

 l_F = fail, P = pass, SP = strong pass. ²Underscored values indicate that mix did not pass acceptability criterion. °F = 9/5 (°C) + 32.

freeze-thaw cycles. Heavy coal-hauling trucks are also common in the area, which made it an excellent site for the field trials.

H

As a safeguard against statistical bias, it was decided that the PennDOT 485 control mix would be used on the same day and under the same conditions as any given experimental mix. To facilitate the transport and use of two mixes the dump-truck bed was provided with a full-depth, longitudinal partition. The truck bed under the tailgate was color-coded to identify the mix in each half of the truck bed. Only one experimental mix was used on any given day.

Repair Procedure

Two different pothole repair strategies were adopted during the study: PennDOT's standard procedure for manual patching with stockpiled mix, often referred to as the "do-it-right" method, and the "throw-and-go" or nonstandard technique. In the standard procedure, illustrated in figures 7 through 9, the deteriorated pavement is removed with a mechanical cutting tool, leaving vertical edges. The debris is removed with a shovel and the hole is cleaned with a broom or compressed air.^[18]

Before compaction, enough patching material is placed in the hole so that the compaction device does not "bridge" on the surrounding pavement. It is preferable to have the top of the compacted patch approximately 1/4 in (6 mm) higher than the surrounding pavement to ensure that the compaction device has fully compacted the patching mix. This minimizes the chance that there will be further densification under traffic. The compactive effort consisted of 14 passes with a model V30W2-R Essick vibrating roller.

The nonstandard strategy, illustrated in figure 10, does not involve cutting out the affected area. Loose material is removed with a shovel or broom, and patching material is shoveled into the hole. Compaction is usually accomplished by a few passes with the repair truck or a few blows with the back of a shovel. In this study, for the nonstandard method, compaction was performed with the truck.



Figure 7. Cutting operation for standard procedure.



Figure 8. Cleaning operation for standard procedure.



Figure 9. Compaction operation for standard procedure.



Figure 10. Nonstandard repair procedure.

The objective of the study was to improve the effectiveness of mixes in cold, wet weather. Therefore, if the sides and bottom of the pothole were not damp, water was sprinkled into the hole prior to filling it with patching mix. This practice (figure 11) was followed regardless of the repair procedure used. No edge sealing or tacking material was used in any of the repairs.

Monitoring of Repairs

All patching operations were performed under the supervision of a member of the research team, including loading the mixes into the appropriate compartment of the truck bed at the start of the day's work and returning any unused material to the appropriate stockpile at the end of the day. Once at the job site, a member of the research team (accompanied by the foreman) surveyed the section of the road earmarked for the day's operation. Repairs used in the study were always located in the traffic wheel path. Large holes, with dimensions greater than 2 to 3 ft (0.6 to 0.9 m), were avoided because they would have limited the number of repairs that could be made with each mix. A toss of a coin determined whether the first pothole patched on that day would be repaired with the PennDOT 485 control mix or the experimental mix. After the mix for the first repair was determined, the control and experimental mixes were used alternatively in subsequent repairs.

At the time of patching, each repair was thoroughly documented. Information collected for each repair included the repair number, the date, and the observer's initials. Location, hole size, traffic, environmental conditions, mixture characteristics, and pavement conditions surrounding the hole were documented. The procedure and equipment used in the repair along with mixture type and an evaluation of the suitability of the mix were recorded. Nuclear density readings were obtained for potholes repaired according to the standard procedure. In addition, a sketch of the repair was made, and a before-and-after photograph was taken for future identification.

Summary of Repairs

A total of 410 repairs were made during the period from March 4 to April 25, 1986. The standard procedure was used for patching 294 potholes,



Figure 11. Watering the pothole before placing the mix.

while 122 repairs were made using the nonstandard method. Approximately one half of the repairs were made with the experimental mix, and the other half were made with the PennDOT 485 control mix. Except for the PennDOT 486 mix, all the mixes performed very well and were enthusiastically accepted by the crews.

1

The only material that showed any signs of premature failure was the PennDOT 486 mix used by the local district. Of the seven repairs documented with PennDOT 486 in the early days of the field trials, two failed a few days after they were patched, and the others started showing distress as a result of stripping of the binder from the aggregate. Consequently, documentation of repairs conducted with PennDOT 486 was discontinued. These patches are not included in the data analyses discussed in chapter 7.

Table 36 summarizes the number of potholes repaired with each mix, the pavement type, the average ADT, and the repair procedure. As can be seen, the repairs were approximately equally divided between flexible and concrete composite pavements.

Міх Туре	Fl	exible Paveme	nt	C	omposite Paven	Total		
	Standard Procedure	Nonstandard Procedure	Total	Standard Procedure	Nonstandard Procedure	Total	No. of Repairs	Average ADT
MC-800L	16	10	26	14		14	40	3853
HFMS-2	16		16	14	7	21	37	3406
HFMS-2L	14	16	30	14		14	44	7324
HFMS-2B	9	10	19	22		22	41	5812
HFMS-2BF	7	10	17	20	8	28	45	7821
PennDOT 485	61	46	107	81	15	96	203	6223
PennDOT 486	6		6				6	
Total	129	92	221	165	30	195	416	

Table 36. Summary of potholes patched with each mix type.

No. of Potholes Repaired

7. ANALYSIS OF FIELD RESULTS

This chapter describes the results obtained in the field as well as other results that are germane to the evaluation of the trial mixes. The repairs were made in a variety of environmental conditions (see table 37). Only one experimental mix was used during each working day, and, therefore, each mix was placed in a variety of weather conditions ranging from sunny and warm to snowy and cold (see table 38). The mix temperatures ranged from below freezing to above 77 °F (25 °C), as is shown in table 39. Although there is a general trend in the relationship between mix temperature and air temperature, (figure 12), the two temperatures are not interchangeable. For this reason, the mix temperature was used in subsequent analyses.

Average density, depth, and volume for the repairs made with each mix type are given in table 40. On the whole, there are few differences among the densities, depths, and volumes for each mix type except that the HFMS-2BF tended to be used more on smaller-sized holes, whereas the MC-800L was used more on larger ones.

EVALUATION OF MIXTURE CHARACTERISTICS

At the time of placement, various measurements and subjective evaluations were made on the mixtures and recorded using the construction documentation form devised for the project. The types of observations that were made are summarized in table 41 and are discussed below.

Drainage Resistance

During the temporary storage in the stockpile at the plant, no drainage in the stockpile was observed. The material was then transported to the winter storage area, where it remained for about 3 months until the end of February 1986. At that time, the stockpiles were again inspected, and there was no evidence of stockpile drainage. In May 1986, the material remaining in the stockpiles was re-evaluated. There was some evidence of drainage for the MC-800L mix, which verified the results obtained in the laboratory for this mix. It can be concluded, therefore, that although the SBR latex modifier

			Mix	Туре				
Weather Condition	HFMS-2	HFMS-2L	HFMS-2B	HFMS-2BF	MC-800L	PennDOT 485	PennDOT 486	
Sunny	15	4	7	15	24	60		
Partly Sunny	2	10	21	15	4	50		
Overcast	3	21	8	5		45	4	
Drizzle	7	4	1	6		18		
Steady Rain	2		1	1		3		
Light Snow	2	5	3	3	10	22	2	
Heavy Snow	5				2	6		

Table 37. Number of potholes patched under various weather conditions.

Table 38. Number of potholes patched at various ambient temperatures.

Ambient Temp. (°F)	Mix Type									
	HFMS-2	HFMS-2L	HFMS-2B	HFMS-2BF MC	-800L	PennDOT 485	PennDO 486	T Total		
≦ 40	11	2	15	4	20	48	4	104		
41-50	11	16	16	13	10	68	2	136		
51-60	8	24	9	5	4	50		100		
61-70	7	2	1	13	6	28		57		
71-80				9		7		16		
> 80		 _		1		2		3		

 $^{\circ}F = 9/5 (^{\circ}C) + 32.$
Mix	Mix Type						
Temperature (°F)	HFMS-2	HFMS-2L	HFMS-2B	HFMS-2BF	MC-800L	PennDOT 485	Total
≦ 40	16	6	5	12	30	66	135
41-50	16	22	36	22	10	104	210
51-60	5	16	-			24	45
> 60				11		9	20

Table 39. Number of potholes patched at various mix temperatures.

 $^{\circ}F = 9/5$ ($^{\circ}C$) + 32.

Table	40.	Physical	properties	of	repairs.
-------	-----	----------	------------	----	----------

Міх Туре	Average Density (1b/ft ³)	Average Depth (in)	Average Volume (ft ³)
HFMS-2	120.54	2.82	1.26
HFMS-2L	120.53	2.35	1.68
HFMS-2B	119.45	2.80	1.20
HFMS-2BF	119.65	2.30	0.83
MC-800L	118.74	2.42	2.12
PennDOT 485	119.63	2.46	1.46

 $1 \ 1b/ft^3 = 16 \ kg/m^3$; 1 in = 25.4 mm; 1 ft³ = .03 m³.



Figure 12. Mix temperature versus air temperature.

Stockpile		Susceptibility	Self-
Drainage	workadility	to Stripping	Tacking
None	Excellent	None	Excellent
None	Excellent	None	Excellent
None	Satisfactory	None	Excellent
None	Excellent	None	Excellent
Some	Excellent	None	Excellent
None	Excellent	None	Excellent
	Stockpile Drainage None None None Some None	Stockpile DrainageWorkabilityNoneExcellentNoneExcellentNoneSatisfactoryNoneExcellentSomeExcellent5None	Stockpile DrainageSusceptibility to StrippingNoneExcellentNoneNoneExcellentNoneNoneSatisfactoryNoneNoneExcellentNoneNoneExcellentNoneSomeExcellentNoneSomeExcellentNoneNoneExcellentNone

Table 41. Rating of mixture characteristics reported from the field.

ŧ

increased the workability of the mixes at low temperatures (table 37), it did so at the expense of increased drainage. The effect of the latex modification on drainage was less pronounced for the HFMS-2L emulsion.

Workability

The workability of the mixes in the field was subjectively evaluated in two ways. First, an assessment was made as to how easily the crust on the stockpiles could be broken and whether the materials could be easily loaded into a dump truck by a front-end loader. Except for the MC-800L mix, the crust on the candidate-mix stockpiles was observed to be thinner than the crust on the PennDOT 485 mix. PennDOT 485 and MC-800L stockpiles had surface encrustations 1 1/2 in (38 mm) to 2 in (50 mm) thick. All could be loaded satisfactorily; in no instance was the mix so lumpy that it did not break up during loading or shoveling.

The second evaluation of workability was made as the mix was placed in the pothole. Workability was rated as a strong pass, pass, or fail. Of the 410 observations, none failed, 13 were judged as passing, and the remainder were recorded as a strong pass. The 13 pass observations were for the HFMS-2B mix, which represents 32 percent of the repairs made with that mix. The mix temperature also was recorded, and all five repairs made when the mix temperature was less than 42 °F (6 °C) received a pass rating. These results are in agreement with the workability tests conducted on the plant mixes (table 35). The latex modification increased low-temperature workability, although the effect was more pronounced for the cutback (MC-800L) than for the emulsion (HFMS-2L).

Stripping Resistance

The susceptibility to stripping was determined at the time of placement by a subjective evaluation of the percentage of aggregate that was coated with bitumen. In all cases, more than 90 percent of the aggregate was coated, indicating no apparent susceptibility to stripping. These results were in agreement with the water resistance test results for the plant mixes

(table 35). All of the experimental mixes, including the control PennDOT 485 mix (MC-800), were acceptable with respect to stripping. The PennDOT 486 mix (glacial gravel, MC-800, and fibers) purchased by the maintenance district stripped badly and did not pass the PennDOT stripping test which is used by PennDOT for acceptance purposes. Thus, it can be concluded that the local PennDOT 486 mix was not within specification and therefore did not merit inclusion as part of the field evaluation program.

Self-Tacking

In all cases, excellent self-tacking characteristics were observed. Even in cold, wet weather, the mixes adhered to the old pavement. No distress that could be attributed to a lack of self-tacking was observed in either the nonstandard or the standard procedure. No tacking materials were used, and all the repairs were done in damp or wet holes.

EVALUATION OF DENSITY

A nuclear gage was used to measure the density of the mix in the patches repaired in accordance with the standard procedure. Readings between $104.8 \ 1b/ft^3 \ (1.69 \ Mg/m^3)$ and $132.8 \ 1b/ft^3 \ (2.13 \ Mg/m^3)$ were obtained. The average density reading was $120 \ 1b/ft^3 \ (1.93 \ Mg/m^3)$. Table 42 shows the average density obtained for each material and the average depth and average volume associated with patches repaired with that material. In the nonstandard procedure, the material in the patch was compacted with six passes of the truck. In this case, the density of the material in the patch was not measured, because these repairs were made on high-volume roads and traffic control was not available to protect the research team. For the repairs made according to the standard procedure, PennDOT provided traffic control as part of the repair operation.

The density of a mix compacted in the pavement is potentially affected by a number of factors including hole depth, hole volume, type of base, condition of base, and type of pavement, all of which were documented. Other aspects that were documented included the number of passes, whether the compaction tool bridged on the surrounding pavement, and whether the hole was filled with

	Number	of Repairs	Number Meast	of Densi urements	- y		Density (1b/ft ³))
Mix	Standard Procedure	Nonstandard Procedure	Standard Procedure	Nonstan Proced	ndard lure	Avg.	Median	Std. Dev.
MC-800L	30	10	29	0		118.7	119.5	
HFMS-2	30	7	28	0		120.5	120.4	
HFMS-2L	28	16	28	0		120.5	119.8	3.9
HFMS-2B	31	10	31	0		119.5	120.0	
HFMS-2B	F 27	18	22	0		119.7	120.7	6.0
PennDOT 485	142	61	135	0		119.6	119.6	3.6
Total	288	122	273	0		119.8	119.9	3.9
								1. S.

Table 42. Summary of densities measured in the field for different mixes.

 $1 \ 1b/ft^3 = 16 \ kg/m^3$.

a sufficient amount of material. The data were plotted, and simple analysis of variance was used to test for relationships between density and the other variables. Each of these aspects is discussed below and is followed by a discussion of the relationship between density and type of mix.

Hole Dimensions

The average hole depth was 2.5 in (64 mm). The minimum depth was 0.9 in (23 mm), and the maximum was 6.4 in (163 mm). Five holes were less than 1.0 in (25 mm) deep, and 17 holes were deeper than 4.5 in (114 mm). Figure 13 and table 43 show the distribution of hole depth measurements. A plot of density versus hole depth was examined, but this plot showed no discernable relationship (figure 14). An analysis of variance was used to test the hypothesis that the density of holes less than 4 in (102 mm) in depth was equal to the density of holes deeper than 4 in (102 mm). For this analysis of variance, compaction density was studied at two levels of hole depth. The F-ratio was calculated as 4.46, and the probability that the observed relationship occurred by chance was 3.6 percent. The average densities were as follows:

Depth (in)	Sample Size	Average Density, lb/ft^3	Standard Error
<u> </u>	241	119.9	0.249
>4	32	118.3	0.686

These statistics indicate that hole depth does have a statistically significant effect on the density measurements. However, the difference between the average densities for the two groups is relatively small from an engineering point of view and is not considered sufficient to affect the longevity of the repairs.

A similar analysis of variance was conducted for hole volumes greater than and less than 3.5 ft³ (0.10 m³). The F-ratio from the analysis of variance test was 22.68, and the probability of the results occurring on a chance basis was less than 0.1 percent. These statistics indicate that the



Figure 13. Frequency histogram for hole depth.

Lower Limit (in)	Upper Limit (in)	Midpoint (in)	Frequency	Relative Frequency
. 50	1.00	.75	5	.012
1.00	1.50	1.25	62	.151
1.50	2.00	1.75	99	.241
2.00	2.50	2.25	73	.178
2.50	3.00	2.75	60	.146
3.00	3.50	3.25	46	.11
3.50	4.00	3.75	32	.078
4.00	4.50	4.25	16	.039
4.50	5.00	4.75	14	.034
5.00	5.50	5.25	1	.002
5.50	6.00	5.75	1	.002
6.00	6.50	6.25	1	.002

Table 43. Distribution of hole depths.

Įł.

Mean depth = 2.49 in; 1 in = 25.4 mm.



Figure 14. Density versus depth of repairs.

larger holes had, on the average, a lower density than the smaller holes. The average densities were as follows:

H

Volume, ft ³	Sample Size	Average Density	Standard Error
≤ 3.50	239	120.2	0.243
>3.50	34	116.8	0.643

The difference between the average densities appears to be significant, both statistically and from an engineering standpoint.

Results similar to those obtained for hole volume were obtained for hole area. The average densities for holes with areas greater than and less than 12 ft² (1.1 m²) were as follows:

<u>Hole Area, ft²</u>	Sample Size	<u>Average Density, lb/ft³</u>	Standard Error
<u>≤</u> 12	238	120.0	0.246
>12	35	117.3	0.642

These results show that, on the average, the density of the larger holes was $2.7 \, 1b/ft^3 \, (43 \, kg/m^3)$ less than the average for the smaller repairs. These differences, while small, show that large, deep holes are more difficult to compact than small, shallow holes. Nonetheless, the reduced values of density for the larger or deeper holes are not considered sufficient to significantly affect the failure rate of the repairs.

Pavement Type

An analysis of variance was done to test the equivalence of the average densities for repairs made in the two predominant base types. The F-ratio was 4.30, and the probability of a chance relationship between the two variables was 3.9 percent. The average densities were as follows:

Base Type	Sample Size	Average Density	Standard Error
PCC	36	121.1	0.636
Asphalt	218	119.7	0.258
Concrete			

The significance of base type on density seems to be marginally important and may reflect the fact that the unit weight of portland cement concrete is larger than that of asphalt concrete. This difference would cause larger nuclear readings for the composite pavements, especially for the thinner repairs.

Two pavement types were included in the study. There were 121 density measurements on asphaltic concrete pavements, and 152 density measurements on composite pavements. The analysis of variance yielded an F-ratio of 3.29, and the probability of a chance occurrence of a significant relationship between the two variables was 7.1 percent. The average densities were as follows:

Pavement Type	Sample Size	Average Density	Standard Error
Asphalt Concrete	121	120.2	0.353
Composite	152	119.3	0.315

The results of this analysis indicate that pavement type does not have a particularly significant influence on the density of the compacted patches. Therefore, repair density, by itself, is not considered sufficiently different to affect the service life of repairs made in different pavement types.

Bridging of Compaction Device and Adequate Filling

During the repair process, data were collected on whether the compactor was bridging on the surrounding pavement. In 273 instances for which density values were available, bridging occurred only once, verifying that the crews performed the repairs in accordance with the PennDOT standard repair procedure. Because only one repair was made when the compactor bridged the repair, no conclusion can be drawn about the effect of bridging on density or repair longevity.

If the hole is underfilled, it is impossible to obtain full compaction. Only if the compacted repair is slightly above the pavement surface, can it be certain that full compaction has been achieved. When densities were recorded, only 3 times out of 273 was the repair flush with the pavement. Thus, there are insufficient data to draw a conclusion with respect to the effect of underfilling on density. However, it is worth noting that in these 3 instances, the average density was 115.3 $1b/ft^3$ (1.85 Mg/m³), whereas the average density when the repair was slightly above the pavement was 119.8 $1b/ft^3$ (1.92 Mg/m³).

Ii.

Mix Temperature

The effect of mix temperature on density was evaluated using a simple linear regression. A significant relationship was found, although the correlation coefficient was very small (0.19). The plot of mix density versus mix temperature shown in figure 15 does not indicate a strong relationship between the two variables. To further analyze the data, three levels of the independent variable (temperature) were established. The average densities for these levels were as follows:

Temperature (°F)	Sample Size	Average Density, 1b/ft ³
<u><</u> 37	67	118.0
38 < т <u><</u> 47	140	120.5
>47	66	119.6

Some decrease in density is shown for those repairs compacted at a temperature less than 37 °F (3 °C); however, the difference is small and is not significant from an engineering standpoint.

Summary

The installation variables, such as hole dimensions, pavement type, and mix temperature, had varying effects on the density of the repair. Although some statistically significant effects were found, they were small, and, from an engineering point of view, should not significantly affect the longevity of the repairs. Mix type did not have an effect on density. These findings support the conclusion that all of the mixes were sufficiently workable during placement and compaction.



Figure 15. Mix density versus mix temperature.

Some drainage was noticed with the MC-800L mixture, but it did not adversely affect the other properties of the mix. The MC-800L was the most workable of the mixes, but this characteristic was the result of its soft consistency, which contributed to the excess drainage. There was no evidence of moisture damage during storage or placement. With this exception, all of the mixes performed well during placement and compaction. The repair crews were very receptive to the experimental mixes, preferring them to the control material.

MONITORING OF INSERVICE PERFORMANCE

The most commonly observed inservice failures are dishing, raveling, bleeding, and shoving. Each of the repairs was rated with respect to these failure modes during four different evaluations. The repairs were made during the period from March 7, 1986 through April 25, 1986. The first evaluation was conducted several weeks later, and three subsequent evaluations were done in the early summer of 1986, early winter of 1986, and late spring of 1987 as follows:

Evaluation No. 1

- March 17, 20, 1986
- April 14, 1986
- May 7, 13, 1986

Evaluation No. 2

• June 4, 5, 1986

Evaluation No. 3

• November 3, 6, 1986

Evaluation No. 4

• May 7, 1987

In order to provide a comprehensive rating of the performance of each repair, the patch surface was divided into three imaginary rows and columns, giving nine cells for each patch. Each of the nine cells was evaluated for dishing, raveling, bleeding, and shoving, according to the criteria given in table 44. The observations were tabulated on a field evaluation form together with a sketch of the patch outline, and notes were made of any visible signs of distress. Photographs were taken for future reference. The data from the field performance evaluations, along with the construction data, were assembled in a computer file for future analysis.

The repairs were considered to have failed if the repair had to be replaced or if any one of the nine cells received a rating of 3 or greater (see table 44). Using the presence of a single 3 rating as a failure criterion imposed rather strict performance criteria. Many agencies would probably consider the repair to have failed only when total or partial replacement was necessary.

A summary of the performance history of the standard and the nonstandard repairs is shown in tables 45 and 46. The excellent performance that was observed during the first spring evaluation can be clearly seen. Only 4 of 404 repairs failed after 3 months of service. Although careful planning was done by PennDOT county maintenance personnel and the research team to ensure that none of the repairs selected for this study would be overlaid during the evaluation period, changes in the local pavement management plan resulted in the loss of a number of repairs, particularly for the HFMS-2L and HFMS-2B nonstandard repairs, all of which were overlaid by November 1986. A sizable loss in the number of available patches also occurred for standard repairs made with the HFMS-2B mix. Some patches were lost from the other data sets through overlays, loss of markings, and other causes. Consequently, the percentage of failures calculated in tables 45 and 46 was based on the number of available patches, i.e., the number of patches for which observations could be made.

RESULTS OF FIELD SURVEY

The data in table 45 indicate that during the first evaluation there were no failures in either the experimental mix or the control mix. During the second evaluation the only repairs that had failed were those made with the

	Rating								
Distress Condition	1	2	3	4					
Dishing	None	<1/4 in	>1/4 in, but <1/2 in	>1/2 in					
Raveling	None	"pock marks" on surface due to loss of fine aggregate and binder	larger particles have come loose but damage limited to surface	damage no longer confined to surface					
Bleeding	None	small, l l/2-in size bleeding	large patches of asphalt on surface	mass movement of asphalt to surface					
Shoving	None	localized bulging <1/2 in	localized bulging >1/2 in but < 1 in	depth of corrugations >l in					

Table 44. Inservice rating criteria.

1 in = 25.4 mm.

		Evaluation 1		Evaluation 2		Evaluation 3		Evaluation 4	
Mixture		Expt.	Control	Expt.	Control	Expt.	Control	Expt.	Control
Type		Mix	Mix	Mix	Mix	Mix	Mix	Mix	Mix
HFMS-2	Repairs Avail.	30	31	30	31	24	22	24	21
	No. Failed	0	0	2 ^d	0	3d	2d	3d	5 ^c
	% Failed	0	0	7	0	13	9	13	24
HFMS-2L	Repairs Avail.	33	40	30	37	26	28	26	27
	No. Failed	0	0	2d	0	2d	1 ^d	6 ^s	9c
	% Failed	0	0	7	0	8	4	23	33
HFMS-2B	Repairs Avail.	31	27	31	27	9	7	9	7
	No. Failed	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	% Failed	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
HFMS-2BF	Repairs Avail.	28	22	28	22	23	18	23	18
	No. Failed	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1d
	% Failed	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6
MC800-L	Repairs Avail.	30	28	30	28	17	17	17	16
	No. Failed	0	0	0	0	40	3°	80	4°
	% Failed	0	0	0	0	24	18	47	25

Table 45. Comparison of mix performance using the standard repair procedure.

d = patches failed due to dishing.

s = patches failed due to dishing or raveling.

c = patches failed due to dishing or raveling or unknown cause.

b = patches failed due to dishing, raveling or both.

	andar Aliantes Aliantes andares andares andares	Evaluation 1		Evaluation 2		Evaluation 3		Evaluation 4	
Mixture Type		Expt. Mix	Control Mix	Expt. Mix	Control Mix	Expt. Mix	Control Mix	Expt. Mix	Control Mix
HFMS-2	Repairs Avail.	7	7	7	7	7	7	4	5
	No. Failed	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
	% Failed	0	0	0	0	0	0	25	20
HFMS-2L	Repairs Avail.	11	11	11	11	0	0	0	0
	No. Failed	0	0	0	0	-	-	_	· •
	% Failed	0	0	0	0	 , *			-
HFMS-2B	Repairs Avail.	10	10	10	10	0	0	0	0
	No. Failed	0	0	0	0	-		- <u>-</u>	-
	% Failed	0	0	0	0		-	-	-
		1 -		1 -		-	-	_	·
HFMS-2BF	Repairs Avail.	17	17	1/	1/	1		1	7
	No. Failed	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	% Failed	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
MC800-L	Repairs Avail.	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	9
	No. Failed	0	0	0	0	0	0	4b	2 ^s
	% Failed	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	40	22

Table 46. Comparison of mix performance using the nonstandard repair procedure.

11

d = patches failed due to dishing.

s = patches failed due to dishing or raveling.

c = patches failed due to dishing or raveling or unknown cause.

b = patches failed due to dishing, raveling, or both.

HFMS-2 experimental mix. Two of the 30 repairs had failed by dishing even though they were still intact and serviceable. Data collected during the third and fourth evaluations are shown graphically in Figures 16 and 17, respectively. Given the different failure rates for the different control mixes it is obvious that, overall, the placement and service conditions varied between the mixes. Therefore it is important that the evaluations be made by comparing the experimental mixes with their respective control mix and not directly with each other.

At the time of the third evaluation the failure rate for the emulsionbased mixes was still very small. A higher failure rate was observed for the MC-800L mix and its control, but the difference between the experimental and control mix was not large (24 percent versus 18 percent). A better picture of potential performance emerged after the fourth evaluation. Over the winter there were no additional failures for the HFMS-2 mix (13 percent), but the failure rate for the control mix increased from 9 to 24 percent. The failure rate for the latex-modified emulsion was equal to that of the control mix, but the failures increased from 8 to 23 percent for the HFMS-2L mix and from 4 to 33 percent for the control mix failed over the winter. No failures were observed for the HFMS-2B mix or the HFMS-2BF mix, and only one failure was observed for the HFMS-2BF mix, making it difficult to reach a conclusion regarding their potential performance.

A much different picture emerges with respect to the latex-modified cutback, MC-800L. After the fourth evaluation the failure rate for the MC-800L mix had increased to 47 percent, nearly double that of the control mix (25 percent). The drainage problem encountered with the MC-800L mix has led the researchers to question the effectiveness of the latex modification. The incompatibility of the latex with the asphalt may be a possible explanation for the questionable performance of the latex-modified cutback and emulsion. Such incompatibility would explain the relatively soft nature, drainage, and resulting larger failure rate for the MC-800L mix.

In the nonstandard procedure no failures were recorded until the fourth evaluation, which was made after the first winter of service. Ordinarily, it



ij.





Figure 17. Performance of mixes, standard procedure, evaluation no. 4.

would be expected that the failure rate for the nonstandard procedure would be much greater overall than for the standard method. A comparison of Figure 17 and 18 shows that the failure rates were approximately equal except for the HFMS-2, which performed much better when the standard method was used (a failure rate of 13 percent versus 25 percent for the nonstandard method). The reason for the apparent anomaly was that the nonstandard repairs were made later in the season, when the weather conditions were more favorable. In addition, PennDOT services the more heavily traveled roads first, leaving the lower volume roads until later in the season. Therefore, the approximately equal failure rate for the two methods does not imply that they are approximately equal in terms of repair longevity.

No conclusions can be drawn relative to the failure rate for the nonstandard repairs made with the butyl-modified mixes (HFMS-2L and HFMS-2BF), because the repairs were lost as a result of a last-minute change in PennDOT's pavement overlay plans. Otherwise the trends in the repairs made according to the nonstandard procedure paralleled those made according to the standard procedure.

Raveling and shoving were both observed as failure modes for each procedure, although neither failure mode could be associated with a particular mix. In no case was failure associated with stripping of the mix. In many cases, the failures occurred in locations where there was poor drainage or severe reflection cracking, and a recurrence of the pothole was inevitable. Other failure modes were not observed on a recurring basis, even on the nonstandard repairs.





8. COST EVALUATION OF REPAIR METHODS AND MATERIALS

li.

The difference in performance for some experimental mixes was apparent, but the question remains of whether the extra cost of the materials is justified. In this chapter, an example is presented which illustrates a procedure for evaluating the total cost associated with various cold-mix repair methods and materials. The objective is to impart a general understanding of the steps involved in the economic analysis. The procedures described in this chapter are similar to those used previously by the authors except that user costs have been added to the life-cycle cost, and the cost per repair is calculated instead of the cost per ton.^[2,18]

IDENTIFICATION OF REPAIR METHODS

In this example, two alternatives or methods for cold-mix repair are considered. The first method is described in PennDOT performance standard 711-121-01 and is referred to herein as the standard method.^[13] In this method, repairs in cold, wet weather consist of the following steps:

- Marking to delineate the repair area
- Cutting to remove weak and deteriorated material
- Cleaning to provide a surface to which the patch or tacking material can adhere
- Filling
- Compacting

Careful attention is given to each step to obtain a high-quality repair and to maximize productivity.

The second method is a nonstandard procedure referred to as the throw-and-go method. In this method, cutting is eliminated, and compaction is performed with a truck. Because there is no cutting or cleaning operation, the actual repair time for this method is considerably less than that for the standard method. Repair longevity with the nonstandard method is typically less than that achieved with the standard procedure.^[1]

METHODOLOGY FOR EVALUATING REPAIR METHODS

Different costs are associated with the two repair methods presented. Since there are fewer operations involved with the throw-and-go method, initial placement costs are less than those for the standard method. However, the longevity of a repair must also be considered. If repairs made by one method provide longer service life, then that method may prove more economical even though the initial repair costs are higher. In particular, more expensive initial repair costs may be justified if the traffic volume is high and if there is significant truck traffic. Consequently, the evaluation of cold-mix repair alternatives should be based on a life-cycle cost analysis.

For the evaluation of alternatives, life-cycle cost may include costs associated with initial construction, user delay, user operation, and maintenance. Future costs are discounted using a selected interest rate so that comparisons can be made on the basis of value at a particular time. Costs are considered over some designated analysis period, which can vary in length depending on the type of analysis.

In the example provided, initial repair costs including those for materials, labor, and equipment plus user delay costs are considered. For repairs lasting more than one year, equivalent uniform annual costs were calculated for various repair longevities using the following equation:

 $A_n = P_0 (A/P, i, n)$

where

A_n = equivalent uniform annual cost for a repair longevity of n years

P_o = initial repair cost of a particular alternative (A/P,i,n) = capital recovery factor for converting the initial repair cost to a uniform series payment lasting n years at an interest rate of i percent

If the repair is made more than once annually, the calculations take on a slightly different form. In this case it is assumed that the repair season

lasts for only four months. When a repair is made four times a year, it will be made at the end of months 0, 1, 2, and 3. The effective interest rate per month is i/12. Repairs made twice annually will be made at the end of months 0 and 3. In the example presented here, it is further assumed that subsequent repairs in the same year are made using the same procedure. This assumption is probably not entirely correct, and the model presented here should be adjusted to more closely match particular situations. Such refinement is beyond the scope of the present example but is discussed elsewhere.^[18]

Ħ

By determining the equivalent uniform annual costs for different repair longevities, a curve such as that shown in figure 19 can be obtained. If the estimated service life and cost per repair for a particular repair method and material is known, the equivalent uniform annual cost can be determined. For example, using figure 19, if the average repair longevity is 2 1/2 years, then the equivalent uniform annual cost is approximately \$51 per repair.

EXAMPLE COST EVALUATION OF REPAIR ALTERNATIVES

To illustrate the methodology discussed, three different scenarios are considered: (1) the standard method is employed, and repair can be productionized; (2) the standard method is employed, but repair work cannot be productionized; and (3) the nonstandard throw-and-go method is used. In the first scenario, it is assumed that the potholes are spaced so that the repair work can be productionized. In the second scenario, the standard procedure is used but the repairs are widely scattered. More travel and setup time is required, which significantly reduces daily production. The third scenario is similar to the first except that the standard procedure is not used. There is no cutting operation, and compaction is done with a truck. Table 47 summarizes the cost data assumed for calculating the initial repair cost for each scenario. The cost and production figures shown were obtained from a pothole repair project conducted for the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation, [2, 18] User delay costs were based upon a traffic rate of 4000 vehicles per day. For each scenario, the lane closure is typically 1/4 mile (0.4 km) or less, and the delays are of short duration. Accordingly, a user delay cost of \$0.05 per vehicle was used. The repairs are made during daylight hours, and, therefore, it is assumed that 2400 vehicle per day are



Figure 19. Variation in equivalent uniform annual cost with repair longevity.

	Standard (Productionized)	Standard (Not Productionized)	Nonstandard
 Hole Volume (ft ³)	3.60	3.60	3.25
Density (lb/ft ³)	120	120	110
Production			
(tons/day) (repairs/day)	6.00 28	2.32 11	5.34 30
Daily Crew			
Cost (\$/day)	646.28	461.25	461.25
Support Equipment			
Cost (\$/day)	267.30	156.30	156.30
Production Equipme	int		
Cost (\$/day)	123.15	74.18	
		and a second	
Subtotal			
(\$/day)	1,036.73	691.73	617.55
(\$/repair)	37.03	62.88	20.59
No. of Affected Vehicles	2,400	1,800	2,400
User Delav Cost			
(S/vehicle)	0.05	0.05	0.05
(S/dav)	120.00	90.00	120.00
(\$/repair)	4.29	8.18	4.00
Total Cost Excludi	ng		
(\$/repair)	41.32	71.06	24.59
(+/F/			24037
Material Cost Per			
c 20/ton	6 / 9	6 4.0	E 9/
\$ 50/con	12 06	0.40	2.30
\$ 00/ton	12.70		10.72
5 90/con	17.44	17.44	10.08
\$120/ ton	23.92	23.92	21.44

Table 47. Variation in equivalent uniform annual cost as a function of repair longevity for a specific alternative.

IJ.

affected. In the standard procedure, where holes are widely scattered, the time of closure is about 25 percent less. The pertinent data are summarized in table 47. The average size of a pothole and the material density after compaction were used to determine the number of repairs per day and to convert the material cost per ton to cost per repair.

Initial repair investments for material costs of 30, 60, 90, and 120 dollars per ton were determined for each scenario. Then, equivalent uniform annual costs, A_n , were determined for service life values ranging from 1 month to 5 years. An interest rate of 10 percent was assumed.

COMPARISON OF MATERIALS BASED ON ANNUALIZED COST

The costs per ton for the control mix and the five experimental mixes were shown earlier in table 18. Compared with the PennDOT 485 control mix, the cost of the experimental mixes ranged from approximately the same amount to 56 percent more. The important question is whether, on an annualized cost basis, the more expensive materials will result in a lower overall cost.

A review of figures 20 through 22 provides some insight into the influence of material cost on annualized costs. As can be seen, the annualized cost differential for various materials ranging in cost from \$30 per ton to \$120 per ton is relatively small. This is especially true for the range of costs shown in table 18, \$30 to \$46 per ton. The dominant influence on annualized cost is the longevity of the repair.

Figures 20 through 22 can be used to compare costs for different materials. Suppose an agency is presently using a material that cost \$30 per ton, and the average repair life using the standard procedure is 1.0 year. The cost of each repair is \$52.58 (figure 20). Figure 20 clearly shows that if the average service life can be extended to 2 years, then the use of material costing as much as \$120 per ton would result in a significant cost saving. Even the HFMS-2BF at \$46.66 per ton, which was the most expensive mix studied, is comparable to the \$30 per ton mix if the average service life can be extended from 1.0 to 1.1 years or more. A similar pattern prevails with longer service lives. A \$30 per ton mix lasting 2.0 years is comparable to a



Figure 20. Equivalent uniform annual cost (dollars per repair) for the standard method when repairs can be productionized.



Figure 21. Equivalent uniform annual cost (dollars per repair) for the standard method when repairs cannot be productionized.



Figure 22. Equivalent uniform annual cost (dollars per repair) for the nonstandard method.

\$120 per ton mix lasting 3.0 years. The HFMS-2BF mix is comparable to the \$30 per ton mix if the service life can be extended to about 2.2 years. Similarly, mixes costing about \$73 per ton or less that will last for 5 years have a lower annualized cost than mixes costing about \$30 per ton that will last 4 years. It seems evident that premium mixes need only extend the average service life by a modest amount in order to provide a lower annualized cost than conventional mixes do.

li

The methods used to make a repair also have an important influence on annualized costs. By comparing the standard procedure (figure 20) with the nonstandard procedure (figure 22), it can be seen that a mix costing \$30 per ton used in the nonstandard procedure and lasting one year is comparable to a mix costing about \$60 per ton used in the standard procedure and lasting two years. However, certain limitations should be recognized when comparing different methods since there are several important factors not considered in the cost curves for the nonstandard procedure (figure 22). These are:

- Extending the service life decreases user costs resulting from rough pavements.
- Extending the service life improves the public image of the agency and enhances road user satisfaction.
- Compaction with a truck will likely increase vehicular maintenance costs.
- A truck will probably be unsatisfactory for compacting larger holes or compacting transverse repairs.
- Compaction with a truck may be unsafe when the repair is at or near the center line of the pavement.
- Compaction of any type is often not used in the nonstandard procedure, which would further shorten repair life.[1]

SUMMARY

This chapter has described a procedure for comparing materials on the basis of the annualized cost of a repair. The procedures can be easily tailored to various State highway agency practices and roadway situations. Nevertheless, the procedure demonstrates that material cost per ton is a relatively minor influence on annualized cost compared with the longevity of the repair. Generally, the more expensive materials need only extend the longevity of a repair by a modest amount in order to be more cost-effective. Caution needs to be exercised in evaluating the nonstandard procedure since there are hidden costs and other considerations not included in the analysis.

9. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

11

The primary objective of this study was to develop and test an improved cold-mix, stockpiled patching material for the repair of asphalt pavements during cold, wet weather conditions. The requirements were that the material be suitable for winter stockpiling, not require specialized equipment or handling, and be cost-effective with a minimum price differential compared with conventional cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures. To meet the objective of the study, the failure mechanisms and performance requirements for successful cold, wet-weather pothole repairs were reviewed. Once the failure mechanisms had been defined, the research team developed a set of performance requirements for cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures. These performance requirements were used to develop a series of experimental binders. The binders were evaluated in the laboratory, and five experimental binders were recommended for field trials.

A number of experimental cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures were produced for evaluation in the field. A total of 410 repairs were made with the different experimental mixtures and with a PennDOT control mixture. The performance of the repairs was monitored through the spring of 1987, and, except for one, all of the experimental binders performed satisfactorily. Several of the experimental mixtures showed notably better performance than the control mixture. Additional monitoring of the repairs might help to determine which of these successful experimental binders, if any, is superior. However, sufficient evaluation has been done to document the superior performance of the patching materials using the HFMS emulsion binders. Because of these results, State highway agencies are encouraged to evaluate these materials in their own areas.

FAILURE MECHANISMS AND PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS

Performance during stockpiling, placement, and service must be considered in the development and evaluation of new cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures. In the stockpile, poor workability, drainage of the binder, and stripping are the most commonly cited deficiencies. Mixture workability is affected by a number of factors including the characteristics of the

aggregate, the consistency of the binder, the quantity of the binder, and any tendency for premature curing of the binder. Requirements for the aggregate have been studied by a number of researchers. The aggregate must contain crushed angular particles and a maximum of 1 to 2 percent passing the No. 200 sieve; the maximum aggregate size must be less than 1/2 in (13 mm). Limiting the amount of fine dust and the maximum aggregate size optimizes workability. Crushed angular particles are required to produce stability under traffic. A gradation that is relatively open provides sufficient space for the thick binder films that contribute to workability and water resistance. Since the aggregate requirements for a successful cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixture were well defined, the primary attention in this project was focused on improving the characteristics of the binder.

Lower binder viscosity contributes to workability in the stockpile and during placement. However, it is undesirable with respect to stripping, drainage, and resistance to pushing and shoving under traffic. The tendency of a binder to strip from an aggregate is a function of the aggregate type and the source as well as the binder. Tendencies toward stripping can be avoided by selecting the appropriate binder system or by adding an appropriate antistripping additive. Resistance to drainage is primarily a function of the consistency of the binder. The ideal binder must remain soft and flexible at low temperatures, be soft and flexible during placement and compaction, and "set up" rapidly after compaction. The ideal binder, therefore, has a low temperature susceptibility, will shear thin during working (i.e., be thixotropic), and will cure rapidly after placement without excessive hardening. Resistance to pushing and shoving under traffic must be developed primarily by the interlocking of the aggregate particles. Adequate aggregate interlock is developed by the proper compaction of angular crushed-aggregate particles.

There is no accepted mix design procedure for cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures. Four performance requirements were considered of primary importance with respect to mixture design: drainage resistance, workability, resistance to moisture, and stability. Stability can be ensured by using a properly graded, crushed aggregate. Drainage resistance, workability, and resistance to water are primarily functions of the binder. Therefore, test
procedures for drainage, workability, and stripping were used as a guide in selecting the optimum binder content for the mixtures. Additional tests were conducted to evaluate stability under load, self-tacking characteristics, and freeze-thaw resistance.

11

The criteria for designing a cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixture are as follows:

- First, establish the maxium allowable binder content so that the mix will not drain excessively (not more than 4 percent of the binder content in the drainage test).
- Second, ensure adequate low-temperature workability by means of a workability test conducted at the lowest mix temperature expected in the field.
- Third, ensure water resistance by conducting the PennDOT water resistance test.

All of these tests must be conducted using the job aggregate and binder.

BINDER SELECTION

On the basis of the literature review and the experience of the researchers, it was concluded that the best opportunity for improving the performance of cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures was to focus on the characteristics of the binder. A wide variety of materials that can be used to modify cutback or emulsified asphalt cements were reviewed. These materials included plastics, elastomers, reclaimed tire rubber, and polymeric fibers. Consideration was given to the addition of these modifiers to conventional medium-curing cutback asphalt cements, anionic and cationic emulsions, and high-float emulsions.

A great number of polymeric additives have potential as modifiers for asphalt cements; however, many of these systems have never been used with asphalt cement. In addition, many of these materials require special processing and handling techniques and are relatively expensive. Because of

the requirement that the study be confined to readily available, off-the-shelf technology, SBR latex, butyl rubber, and an SBS block copolymer were identified as the most promising modifiers. After further consideration, the block copolymer was dropped because additional developments in processing technology were required before it could be readily incorporated into asphalt systems. The recent development of SBS polymers that are dispersed in extender oils has eliminated this problem, and they now warrant further study. Short polyester or polypropylene fibers were also included in the experimental binder systems. Special attention was given to high-float emulsions because of the reduced temperature susceptibility and shear thinning, or thixotropic, properties offered by these emulsions.

The SBR latex modifier was chosen because of the improved low-temperature ductility and workability that it imparts to asphalt cement. SBR latex is perhaps the most widely used polymer modifier; it is low in cost and readily available. Although the SBR latex improved the workability of the binder, it reduced the consistency of the binder sufficiently to cause some drainage.

Butyl rubber was chosen because it is generally considered an adhesion promoter and also improves the low-temperature ductility of asphalt cement. The butyl rubber performed well in this regard except that it caused a decrease in low-temperature workability. This loss was compensated for by the general improvement in workability offered by the high-float emulsions.

Because the butyl-modified high-float emulsion offered the greatest promise as a modified binder, the fibers were added to this system. Surprisingly, the fibers improved the workability of the mixtures. This improvement in workability cannot be accounted for by the additional 0.2 percent binder that is recommended when fibers are added to a mix. The fibers appear to lubricate the mix when it is worked in a loose manner. Later, after compaction, the fibers offer a reinforcing effect, improving the cohesion of the compacted mass.

After a comprehensive laboratory evaluation, the following six binder systems were recommended for the field trials:

- MC-800 conventional cutback used in control mixes
- MC-800L latex-modified MC-800
- HFMS-2 conventional high-float, medium-setting emulsion
- HFMS-2L high-float, medium-setting emulsion modified with SBR latex

ļĮ.

- HFMS-2B high-float, medium-setting emulsion modified with butyl rubber
- HFMS-2BF high-float, medium-setting emulsion modified with butyl rubber and fibers

FIELD TRIALS

Although laboratory evaluations are important in the development of new materials, the final test of the product must be made in the field. Therefore, as part of the study, cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures were made with each of the binders listed above. A statistically designed experiment was developed so that each of the experimental mixtures could be compared individually with the MC-800 control mix.

A total of 410 repairs were made in Cambria County, Pennsylvania, in the spring of 1986. A different experimental mix was used on each successive day, and both the control mix and an experimental mix were used on any given day. Therefore, approximately one-half of the repairs were made with the control mix. The remaining repairs were divided equally among the five experimental mixtures. Detailed construction records were kept of the conditions at the time of placement of each of the repairs. These records included the equipment used to make the repair, the prevailing environmental conditions, the geometry of the repair, and the density of the compacted repair. Two different techniques were used to make the repairs. The PennDOT standard procedure was used for approximately two-thirds of the repairs; the remaining repairs were made according to a nonstandard procedure.

Each of the experimental mixtures and the control mix performed very well during stockpiling, transport, and placement. No problems were experienced with respect to stripping in the stockpile or during placement. Some drainage was observed with the MC-800L-based mixture, and its workability was better than that of the other experimental mixes. Some loss in low-temperature

workability was noted with the butyl modifier, but this was offset by the addition of the fibers. The improvement in workability as a result of the addition of fibers, which was noted in the laboratory, was verified in the field. All of the experimental mixtures were preferred by the crews over the control PennDOT mix.

A detailed comparison of the density measurements indicated that the mixes were easy to compact and that the modifications did not adversely affect the compactability of the mixes. It was further found that adequate compaction can be obtained at mix temperatures as low as 20 to 30 °F (-7 to -1 °C), that hole depths as deep as 6 in (150 mm) can be reliably compacted, and that pavement base type has little effect on compacted density.

The patches were placed in the late winter/early spring of 1986. Four performance evaluations were made, approximately 30, 90, 240, and 400 days after the installation of the first patches. After 30 days, all of the patches were performing in an acceptable manner. Nothing was revealed during the first or second performance evaluation to indicate that there would be any future distress or failure in the patches. Although some dishing was observed in a few of the patches, the extent was relatively minor. Performance evaluations made in the fall of 1986 and spring of 1987 showed significant differences in the behavior of the different mixes.

The laboratory test data and the field handling and placement characteristics of the experimental mixes showed improved properties over the standard MC-800 cutback mix. The latex-modified binders, MC-800L and HFMS-2L, tended to have an excessive amount of drainage. This was attributed to a tendency of the latex to separate from the asphalt, which reduces the consistency of the latex-modified binder. From a longevity standpoint the MC-800L mix did not perform as well as the standard control in this study and cannot be recommended for future use in cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures. The most successful binders were those based on the HFMS-2 emulsion. The butyl modification should provide enhanced performance, although after one year of service the superior field performance expected by the research team was not yet definitively indicated. In the opinion of the research team, the butyl-modified high-float emulsion, especially with the addition of fibers.

has the characteristics necessary to produce a mix with significantly improved performance and to be a cost-effective replacement for conventional cutbacks or emulsions.

CONCLUSIONS

Several conclusions can be drawn on the basis of the results of this study:

• The major mechanisms responsible for the early failure of cold-mix, stockpiled patching mixtures are the drainage of the binder from the aggregate, poor workability, stripping, inadequate stability under traffic, and inability of the mix to bond to the repair (self-tacking).

• A clean, crushed aggregate with less than 2 percent passing the No. 200 sieve and a maximum particle size of 1/2 in (13 mm) is needed for a successful cold-mix, stockpiled mixture.

• The binder is the most promising area for improvement in mixture performance. The required aggregate properties are well defined.

• An improved mixture design is required for cold-mix, stockpiled patching materials. A tentative procedure has been developed and is presented in this report.

• Two of the four experimental mixtures employing high-float medium-set (HFMS) emulsion binders performed demonstrably better than companion control mixtures in the field trials. The other two HFMS mixtures showed no failures in the field, but definitive conclusions could not be reached because their companion controls had only zero and one failure, respectively.

• Experimental mixtures using the latex-modified cutback binder did not perform as well as their companion controls.

RECOMMENDATIONS

• On the basis of the field performance, no further development of the latex-modified cutback mixture is recommended.

• Field trials of stockpiled cold mixtures employing the HFMS binders and designed according to the procedures described in this report are recommended to interested highway agencies.

• Continued monitoring of the existing patches placed during this study might further differentiate among the various HFMS mixtures, all of which are performing well.

REFERENCES

- O'Brien, L. G. <u>Value Engineering as Applied to Pothole Patching</u>. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Birmingham, AL, 1976.
- [2] Thomas, H. R. and Anderson, D. A. "Pothole Repair: You Can't Afford Not to Do It Right." <u>Transportation Research Record</u> 1102, 1986, pp. 32-40.
- [3] Indahl, G., Quinn, J., and Afferton, K. <u>Pavement Patching Techniques</u> and <u>Materials</u>. New Jersey Department of Transportation, Trenton, NJ, 1975.
- [4] Indahl, G. Improving the Quality of Hot Bituminous Type Winter Patching Materials. New Jersey Department of Transportation, Trenton, NJ, 1978.
- [5] Sudol, J. J. and Fincher, H. E. <u>Pothole Repair Study</u>. Research and Training Center, West Lafayette, IN, 1980.
- [6] Guenthev, D. A., Donnelly, D. E., et al. <u>Development and Evaluation of a Mechanized Pavement Patching Machine</u>. Report No. FHWA-TS-82-211, Federal Highway Administration, 1982.
- Hartvigas, L. <u>Patching Flexible and Rigid Pavements</u>. Research Report FHWA/NY/RR-79/74, New York State Department of Transportation, Engineering Research and Development Bureau, Albany, NY, 1979.
- [8] Swanson, H. N. and Donnelly, D. E. <u>Pavement Patching Demonstration and Evaluation</u>. Final Report No. CDH-DPT-R-80-16, Colorado Department of Highways, Denver, CO, 1980.
- [9] Pickett, D. E., Saylak, D., et al. Extension and Replacement of Asphalt <u>Cement with Sulfur</u>. Report No. FHWA-RD-78-95, Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, 1978.
- [10] Ganung, G. A. and Kloskowski, R. <u>Field Application and Evaluation of Pavement Patching Materials</u>. Report No. 199-F-81-1, Connecticut Department of Transportation, Wethersfield, CT, 1981.
- [11] Keller, T. J. <u>Patching Material Performance Report: Fiber Pave and</u> Tex-Crete. Delaware Department of Transportation, Dover, DE, 1984.
- [12] Kandhal, P. S. and Mellott, D. B. "Rational Approach to Design and Bituminous Stockpile Patching Mixtures." <u>Transportation Research Record</u> 821, 1981, pp. 16-22.
- [13] "Bituminous Stockpile Patching Material, Section 485," <u>Bituminous</u> <u>Concrete Mixtures, Design Procedures and Specifications for Special</u> <u>Bituminous Mixtures</u>. Bulletin 27, Pennsylvania Department of Transportation, Harrisburg, PA, 1984.
- [14] "Bituminous Stockpile Patching Material (Fiber Modified), Section 486," Bituminous Concrete Mixtures, Design Procedures and Specifications for Special Bituminous Mixtures." Bulletin 27, Pennsylvania Department of Transportation, Harrisburg, PA, 1984.

- [15] <u>A Critical Evaluation of Pothole Repair Strategies</u>. Report PTI 8017. Pennsylvania Transportation Institute, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, 1980.
- [16] "Pothole Repair: A Guide for PaDOT Maintenance Crews." Prepared by Pennsylvania Transportation Institute, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, 1980.
- [17] <u>Pothole Primer</u>: U. S. Army Corps of Engineers, Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Hanover, NH, 1981.
- [18] Anderson, D. A., Thomas, H. R., and Siddiqui, Z. <u>Evaluation of Pothole</u> <u>Repair Strategies</u>. Report No. PTI 8618. Pennsylvania Transportation Institute, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, 1986.
- [19] Rutherford, N. F. Pavement and Shoulder Maintenance Guides. Report No. FHWA-TS-84-208. Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, 1984.
- [20] Rissel, M. C. Improved Methods for Patching High-Volume Roads. Report No. FHWA/RD-86/076. Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, 1986.
- [21] Thomas, H. R., Siddiqui, Z., and Anderson, D. A. "Cost-Effective Use of Manpower for Manual Pothole Repair." <u>Transportation Research Record</u> 985, 1985, pp. 1-8.
- [22] Thomas, H. R. "A Procedure for Evaluating the Efficiency of Power-Operated Cutting Tools in Localized Pavement Repair." Transportation Research Record 833, 1982, pp. 24-29.
- [23] Snelling, M. A. and Eaton, R. A. <u>Comparison of Three Compactors Used in</u> <u>Pothole Repair</u>. Special Report 84-31, U. S. Army Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory, Hanover, NH, 1984.
- [24] "Bituminous Patching Mixtures." <u>NCHRP Synthesis of Highway Practice</u> 64. Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC, 1979.
- [25] Smith, R. W., Rice, J. M., and Spelman, S. R. <u>Design of Open-Graded</u> <u>Asphalt Friction Courses</u>. Interim Report No. FHWA-RD-74-2, Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC, 1974.

⇒U.S. Government Printing Office : 1989 - 617-000/88619







HNR-20/2-89(625)ENW